SPECIAL REVIEW

Neural induction*

LAURI SAXÉN

Department of Pathology, University of Helsinki, Haartmaninkatu, 3; SF-00290 HELSINKI, Finland

CONTENTS

Introduction	22
Historical Background	22
Totipotency and determination	23
Detection of the organizer	23
Demonstration of the regional nature of the organizer.	23
The confused thirties	23
Search for chemically specified inductors	24
Quantitative versus qualitative hypotheses	25
Biological framework for neural induction.	27
Model systems	29
Early Determinative Events	29
Determination of the mesoderm	29
Determination of the presumptive neuroectoderm.	32
Transmission of Inductive Signals	34
Transfilter experiments	35
Ectodermal/mesodermal interphase	35
Chemistry of Signal Substances	37
Primary induction	37
The mesoderm-inducing factor.	38
The neuralizing factor	38
Induction and Response.	39
Changes of the cell surface.	40
Experiments with lectins.	41
Second messenger hypotheses.	43
Activation of «neural» genes.	43
Neural Induction - A sequential process	43
References	43

^{*} Dedicated to Sulo Toivonen, esteemed teacher, collaborator and friend, on the occasion of his 80th birthday.

Introduction

Neural induction and the research on its nature form an exceptional chapter in the history of modern biology. After Hans Spemann and his school made their pioneering experiments and observations in the twenties and opened an entirely new avenue for developmental biologists, practically every leading embryologist tackled this problem in the thirties and forties. Many devoted their entire scientific careers to this problem. Yet we are still seeking anwers to most of the central questions related to neural induction: how does the target tissue, the presumptive neuroectoderm, gain its responsiveness, and how does the organizer create its inductive capacity? Are the inductive signals carried by specific signal molecules, and if so, where are they synthesized and how are they transmitted to their target? And finally, what are these molecules, what is their exact target site and mode of action while converting undifferentiated ectodermal cells into neuroblasts and ultimately into organized structures of the different regions of the central nervous system?

In recent years, a great variety of biological interactions have been elucidated in detail at the cellular and molecular levels, whereas neural induction has remained an enigma. In 1962 we expressed the naive wish that the early sixties would mark the introduction of a new period of research in embryonic induction (Saxén and Toivonen, 1962). But sixteen years later we still had to ask, «Why do the scientists investigating embryonic induction lag behind their brilliant colleagues in many other fields of biology, in which the sixties and the seventies have witnessed many great victories» (Saxén et al., 1978). This guestion has also remained unanswered. Consequently, a review of the topic is still merely a list of findings and observations, many of which have been made by scientists who use the most sophisticated modern technology, but fail to construct a unifying concept of the process of neural induction. To understand this failure and to appreciate the technical and intellectual difficulties in the field, the reader is here offered a rather extensive historical background to the problem. For details of the past history and development in the seventies, the reader is referred to the following monographs and reviews: (Spemann, 1936; Holtfreter and Hamburger, 1955; Saxén and Toivonen, 1962, 1986; Nakamura and Toivonen, 1978; Witkowski, 1985).

A review of the history of neural induction and of the development of the classic concepts seems proper in 1989, when a new era in the research in this field can be foreseen. Today's molecular technology has provided developmental biologists with many probes for examining the early postinductive events and for following gene activation in the induced cells. This line of research will most probably soon unravel many of the molecular events behind neural induction, a mystery of the past seven decades. For these recent developments, the reader is referred to the excellent review by Gurdon (1987).

Historical Background

In the 19th century, embryology, like many other fields of biomedicine, was characterized by a descriptive approach, and the normal events of ontogeny were mapped out in painstaking detail. Not until the end of the century did scientists become aware of the importance of asking questions related to the control of development. «Why» instead of «how». Perhaps the most influential of these early theories of determination was that proposed by Weismann in 1892 (Weismann, 1892) and known as the germ line theory. According to this theory, ontogeny was already determined in the early zygote -a modification of the classic preformation theory- and after this stage every cell followed its presumptive fate. Though incorrect in its basic doctrine, this hypothesis seemed to be a stimulus for the first experimental approach to the problem of determination, the process which «initiates a specific pathway of development by singling it out from various possibilities for which the cellular system is competent» (Hadorn, 1965).

In the early 20th century three milestones marked the development of new ideas and basic concepts: results in embryodividing experiments, detection of the organizer, and demonstration of the regional nature of the latter.

Totipotency and determination

According to Weismann's doctrine, separation of the blastomers at the two-cell stage should lead to the formation of two half-embryos. A simple experiment, first devised by Endres in 1895 (Endres, 1895) and still included in many elementary courses on embryology, involves the separation of these two cells with a gradually tightening hair-loop. As a consequence, two identical embryos develop showing that the two cells are toti- or equipotent, i.e., they both possess the regulative capacity to form entire organisms. The same experiment can also be performed successfully during later blastula and gastrula stages, provided that certain regulatory parts of the embryo are evenly distributed between the halves (Spemann, 1903). The conclusion is apparent: cells retain all their developmental options throughout early embryonic stages and remain *totipotent*.

The first definite demonstration of irreversible determination of an embryonic cell population came from Spemann's laboratory in 1916-1918 (Spemann, 1916, 1918). The experiment is illustrated in Fig. 1: when a fragment from the presumptive neural plate of an early gastrula is dissected and transplanted on the belly side of another gastrula of the same stage, the transplant will develop according to its new environment and contribute to the belly epidermis. It is thus still flexible, and its development can be regulated. However, when an identical transplantation is performed at an advanced gastrula stage, a secondary neural plate is formed from the transplant which has now been



Fig. 1. Schema of Spemann's transplantation experiment (1916,1918) demonstrating the determination of the presumptive neuroectoderm during gastrulation.

irreversibly determined and cannot be regulated by its new ventral milieu. This determination can thus be timed precisely as having taken place during the mid-gastrula stage. The mechanisms of the determination, however, were not understood until the experiment described below was carried out.

Detection of the organizer

The key experiment performed by Spemann's student Hilde Mangold can be dated to May 8, 1921, but it was published much later, in 1924 (Spemann and Mangold, 1924) (Fig. 2). A part of the invaginating blastoporal lip from an unpigmented gastrula of Triturus cristatus was transplanted into the ventral ectoderm of a pigmented Triturus vulgaris gastrula. As a result, a secondary neural plate developed on the belly side of the host, but it was mostly pigmented, indicating that it must have been of host origin (most other secondary structures in the host as well as a small central part of the neural plate proved to be of donor origin). The apparent conclusion was that the transplant, the blastoporal lip, was responsible for the determination (induction) of the multipotent host ectoderm. The observations also explain the results of the earlier transplantation experiment (Fig. 1) demonstrating the totipotency of the early ectoderm and the determination of the neural plate after invagination by the inductively active blastoporal lip.

Sixty years later this pioneering experiment became the object of criticism, and its validity was disputed by Jacobson (Jacobson, 1982), who had traced the neural cells back to a blastula stage. Accordingly, the ectodermal cells converted into neural tube cells might have already been predetermined or cells with a neurogenic bias might have migrated into the secondary structures. After this criticism was published in 1982 the problem was discussed at a conference in May 1983, where we marshalled the «historic» evidence to refute Jacobson's views (Saxén and Toivonen, 1986). Very soon direct experimental evidence based on modern technology invalidated the criticism of Jacobson and gave additional support to the original explanation of Spemann (Gimlich and Cooke, 1983; Smith, 1983; Jacobson, 1984; Slack *et al.*, 1984; Smith *et al.*, 1985). We will present this evidence in a later context.

Demonstration of the regional nature of the organizer

After the development of the implantation technique (below), it became relatively easy to map out the inductor tissue. The important discovery was made that there is a difference between young and old gastrulas in the inductive action of the blastopore lip (Fig. 3). Hence, there were regional, qualitative differences in the inductive action of the invaginating blastopore tissue. A more detailed analysis of these regional features was performed by O. Mangold in 1933 (Mangold, 1933). He dissected the archenteron roof of a young neurula into four transversal segments and tested the inductive capacity of each by his newly developed implantation method (Fig. 11). The fragments were implanted into the blastocoele of a young gastrula where, during subsequent gastrulation, they were pressed against the ventral ectoderm, the target. The results summarized in Fig. 4 illustrate the macroscopic appearance of the secondary structures obtained by the different territories of the inductor. Microscopic analysis showed that the secondary (neural) structures constituted a series from the most cranial parts of the CNS to the spinal cord induced by the most caudal quarter of the inductor tissue. This regional specificity of the inductor has since been repeatedly demonstrated by basically the same experimental schema (Ter Horst, 1948; Sala, 1955; Leussink, 1970).

The confused thirties

The three landmarks reviewed above laid the framework and basis for the future analysis of the induction process. These



Fig. 2. Schema of the heteroplastic transplantation experiment by Hilde Mangold (Spemann and Mangold, 1924). The dorsal lip of a pale Triturus cristatus gastrula is transplanted into the ventral ectoderm of a pigmented Triturus vulgaris gastrula. The secondary neural plate on the belly side of the host consists mainly of pigmented cells induced by the transplant (Saxén and Toivonen, 1986).









Fig. 3. The inducing action of the dorsal lip of a young gastrula (above) and of the same region dissected from an advanced gastrula stage («head» and «tail» inductions).

experimental results introduced the concepts of totipotency and regulative development, and the concept of an inductive interaction between the two tissues. The primary organization center with qualitatively different regional capacity had also been detected. Unfortunately, this solid work and the great discoveries also laid the basis for much confusion, contradictions and misconceptions.

In the thirties, developmental biologists concentrated on

two obvious problems, the nature of the inductor(s) and the mode of establishing the regionality of the inductor (and, consequently, of the neural plate).

Search for chemically specified inductors

The final landmark in the pioneering work of Spemann's school was the demonstration of the chemical nature of induction. In 1932 Bautzmann, Holtfreter, Spemann and Mangold



Fig.4. Schema and results of Otto Mangold's (1933) experiment demonstrating the varying effect (regionality) of different territories of the inductor tissue (Saxén and Toivonen, 1986).

(Bautzmann et al., 1932) performed implantation experiments by using inductors isolated from an embryo but pretreated by various devitalizing means: crushing, freezing, heating, and treatment with various devitalizing chemicals. None of these treatments seemed to inactivate the inductive capacity of the implanted fragments. Their inductive capacity, however, had changed. Instead of inducing more or less harmonious tissue complexes, their action now led to chaotic formations. In this connection, Holtfreter (Bautzmann et al., 1932) showed that in addition to the embryonic tissues, both living and devitalized adult tissues showed inductive activity. Moreover, the inducing factor(s) could be extracted from the tissues. As shown by Mangold (Bautzmann et al., 1932), if an inductively active fragment of the embryo was incubated on a piece of agar and then completely removed, the implanted agar exhibited an inductive action.

The above results led the authors to two fundamental conclusions: induction is transmitted by chemical compounds, and the compounds are diffusible. As we shall see, both conclusions were basically correct, but required several subsequent specifications and additions. They led, however, to a decades-long, somewhat unfortunate period in the search for specific compounds responsible for induction. This era has been repeatedly summarized (Brachet, 1950; Needham, 1950; Saxén and Toivonen, 1962), and only some of the most important features will be listed below.

A German and a British school of embryologists were

involved in this research, and both followed the same strategy: purified factors to be tested were either implanted in pellet form into the blastocoele or the competent ectoderm was exposed to these compounds in «sandwich»-type experiments (Fig. 11). From the very beginning, the two schools were able to report positive results, but the compounds yielding induction varied greatly. The following incomplete list gives a general idea of these «inductors»: sterols isolated from amphibian neurulae (Needham et al., 1934), several organic acids (Wehmeier, 1934), inorganic, inert compounds like kaolin and silicon (Needham, 1950), and some carcinogenic hydrocarbons (Waddington, 1938). At the same time it became evident that not only living devitalized embryonic tissues could act as inductors, but also a great variety of tissues from adult amphibians and those from other species led to induction when brought into contact with the amphibian competent ectoderm (Bautzmann, 1932; Holtfreter, 1933, 1934).

The wide distribution of inductive agents in the animal (and plant) kingdoms and, especially, the wide range of active compounds that had no detectable common denominators, naturally led to confusion, frustration and disbelief in the entire basic phenomenon. Many of these results can be better understood in retrospect, and many can be considered experimental artifacts caused by intrinsic developmental capacities of the ectoderm. It seems clear today that these confusing results can mostly be explained through traumatization of the ectodermal cells. A variety of treatments without any «specificity» would lead to this: heat shock, high pH, hypotonic medium, treatment with ammonia, mechanical damage, etc. (Holtfreter, 1944, 1945; Holtfreter and Hamburger, 1955; Saxén and Toivonen, 1962). The mechanism of this phenomenon has been extensively discussed but not fully clarified. In modern terms, these data may show that the presumptive neuroectoderm has, during its prehistory, created a neurogenic bias which can be released by damage to the cell. In fact, John and collaborators (John et al., 1984) have demonstrated the presence of a neural inducing factor in the gastrula ectoderm. Their fractionation results suggest that it is present in a masked, complex form from which it can be released by various treatments like homogenization and ethanol exposure. The importance of this «autoneuralization» in normal development is questionable, but experimentalists should be aware of it in order not to repeat the «chemical Odyssey of the 1930's» (Hermann, 1960). From the standpoint of science history, the epoch is interesting, but its unfortunate consequence was that many prominent schools of embryologists lost interest in the problem and dropped it (Saxén and Toivonen, 1986).

The first fractionation experiments, the other line of research, were started much later by Toivonen and Kuusi (1948), who were soon followed by many others. Especially faithful to this approach has been the group of Tiedemann, and most of our present knowledge of the chemistry of inductors and their mode of action is based on his work over the past 25 years (Tiedemann 1976, 1978, 1981, 1982, 1984). But before summarizing Tiedemann's findings, we must learn more about the biology of «primary induction», the early determination of the gastrula ectoderm. This brings us back to the confused thirties.

Quantitative versus qualitative hypothesis

Autoneuralization leads to neural differentiation of the presumptive neural ectoderm, but only to the formation of cranial neural structures and their derivatives, forebrain, eyes, etc.



Fig. 5. The «double-gradient theory» of Toivonen and Saxén (1955) as illustrated by Ede (1978).

(«archencephalic» structures). However, both the normal inductor, the blastoporal lip, and many heterogenous inductors can convert the ectodermal target tissue into practically any ectodermal, mesodermal or endodermal derivatives, and frequently a whole, well-organized secondary embryo can be induced from this tissue (Fig. 3). This regionality and its physiological basis became the other main issue of the thirties and soon two seemingly opposite theories involved.

The quantitative theory of the Belgian school postulated the existence of two initial gradients in the embryo, a dorsoventral and a caudocranial gradient. This double gradient determined the production of the actual morphogenetic factor, the «organicine». As a consequence of the double gradient control of synthesis, the distribution of organicine in the embryo was uneven and formed, in fact, a third gradient. This concentraton of the organicine and the different threshold values of the totipotent target cells then determined the ultimate fate of the latter (Dalcq and Pasteels, 1937, 1938).

Meanwhile, extensive implantation experiments with heterogenous inductors led Chuang (1938, 1940) and Toivonen (1938, 1940) independently to the qualitative theory postulating several active compounds exerting different inductive actions. These were later defined by Lehmann (1945) as «archencephalic», «deuterencephalic» and «spinocaudal», depending on the craniocaudal territory of the induced structures. With elements from both basic hypotheses, Lehmann (1950) constructed his model according to which the regional characteristics of the CNS were determined by two inductive principles, the archencephalic and the spinal. These two could act either separately or jointly in different ratios.

It became possible to test this hypothesis after Toivonen (1953) had found a heterogeneous tissue (guinea pig bone marrow) expressing an almost pure mesodermal inductive action. According to the rephrased hypothesis, the regional nature of the inductor would be determined by two active principles: one leading to mesodermalization of the ectoderm and the other which would result in the induction of cranial neural structures only. The CNS derivatives of the hindbrain region and of the spinal cord would, consequently, be determined by a combined action of these two inductors. The first combination experiments seemed to support this hypothesis (Toivonen and Saxén, 1955). When a piece of guinea pig liver tissue (neuralizing inductor) and a fragment of bone marrow from the same source (mesodermalizing inductor) were implanted together into the blastocoele of a gastrula, the secondary structures showed a new spectrum. In addition to some cranial neural structures and mesodermal derivatives, caudal neural structures were regularly created. Based on these results, we then formulated a «double-gradient theory» illustrated in Fig. 5. According to the theory, the neuralizing factor forms a medio-lateral gradient while the mesodermalizing factor is distributed in the form of a cranio-caudal gradient. Consequently, all ratios of the two hypothetic factors could be obtained within the inductor tissue.

This hypothesis incorporated elements not only from the classic gradient ideology dating back to the 19th century but



Fig. 6. Results of implantation experiments in which the inductor consisted of various ratios of heated and non-heated HeLa cells. Different types of induction given as percentages of total (Saxén and Toivonen, 1961).



Fig. 7. Comparison of the results illustrated in Fig. 6 with those obtained by Sala (1955) who examined the inductive effect of the different territories of the archenteron roof.

also from the more recent ideas of Dalcq and Pasteels (1937, 1938) as well as those of Lehmann (1950). As long as the actual signal substances carrying the inductive capacity were unknown, only an indirect experiment to test the double gradient hypothesis could be devised. HeLa cells, a continuous cell line derived from a neoplastic tissue, had been shown to be potent inductors of the mixed type (central and caudal regions of the CNS plus mesodermal derivatives), but after short-term heat treatment they only retained the capacity to induce forebrain structures (Saxén and Toivonen, 1958). It was now possible to use these two cell preparations in various ratios to mimic the postulated effect of various ratios of neural/mesodermal inductive factors. The results illustrated in Fig. 6 were as expected, and the regional specific normal inductor explored by Mangold (1933) had thus been artificially reconstituted (Saxén and Toivonen, 1961). In fact, when these results were superimposed onto the more accurate mapping results of Sala (1955), a striking similarity was observed (Fig. 7).

Meanwhile Nieuwkoop and his group (1952) had performed extensive, well-designed experiments by using folds of the competent ectoderm as test material (Fig. 8). Briefly, when such folds were inserted at various cranio-caudal levels of the host, the proximal parts of the fold showed structures corresponding to the level of insertion, while the distal part of the extra ectoderm developed into neural structures of a more cranial level than that of the insertion. Similar gradients of secondary structures were also obtained in flattened explants of ectoderm where an inductor was placed in the center (Nieuwkoop and Nigtevecht, 1954). Based on such repeated observations, Nieuwkoop formulated his «activation-transformation» theory (Nieuwkoop *et al.*, 1955, 1958). Accordingly the two-step process initiated by the inductor first leads to activation of the presumptive neuroectoderm. This is expressed as a formation of forebrain derivatives, if not followed by a wave of «transformation» which is «a quantitative process through which, with increasing strength of action, progressively more caudal differentiative tendencies appear» (Nieuwkoop, 1955).

These two theories of the 1950s, the activation-transformation hypothesis of Nieuwkoop and our double-gradient hypothesis, were, in fact, not very different. Subsequent experiments were to combine the essential elements from both to form the present model. As this is still considered the biological basis of present experimentation, let us close our historical overview by presenting two sets of experiments concluding the long series of investigations started in the thirties.

Biological framework for neural induction

To examine the time factor as related to the double gradient theory, the following experiment was performed (Saxén *et al.*, 1964) (Fig. 9): ectodermal sandwiches were exposed either to neuralizing inductor or to a spinocaudal, predominantly mesodermalizing inductor. With the knowledge that both inductions should be completed within 24 h (Toivonen, 1958; Johnen, 1964; Ohara, 1981), the inductors were then removed. The ectoderm —which had now lost its competence (see below) was disaggregated into a single-cell suspension and subcultured after reaggregation to follow its differentiation. Three types of subcultures were monitored (those of the two abovementioned cell suspensions separately and those where the two were combined and thoroughly mixed at 24h). Should the third type of disaggregated/reaggregated cultures show a spectrum of structures differing from the two unmixed aggregates, the



Fig. 8. Summary of the results obtained by Nieuwkoop et al. (1952) with the ectodermal fold technique: folds of competent ectoderm were implanted at different levels of a young neurula. The distal region of the folds remains undifferentiated, the intermediate region (hatched) shows mesectodermal differentiation and the proximal part neural structures with hindbrain derivatives. The hypothesis postulates an initial activation (thick lines) followed by a wave of transformation leading to the more caudal neural structures (crosses) (Saxén and Toivonen, 1962).

conclusion would be that they had been determined during a second step of interaction between the two types of induced cells. The expected result was obtained (Fig. 9), and it was now possible to rephrase the double-gradient hypothesis.

During an initial step of induction, the multipotent ectoderm is determined either in the neural or the mesodermal direction. The regionality of the CNS is then determined by a second- step interaction between the neuralized and mesodermalized cells.

This concept and its supporting evidence were brought closer to the *in vivo* situation by dissecting the interactants from normal neurula-stage embryos instead of using artificially induced tissues (Toivonen and Saxén, 1968). A piece of the anterior neural plate (prospective forebrain) was combined to a piece of caudal axial mesoderm, which were both in a disaggregated state. The method allowed a pseudoquantitative approach as different numbers of these fragments could be disaggregated and combined.

As predicted, the anterior neural tissue cultured alone gave rise to forebrain derivatives only, but when increasing amounts of mesodermal cells were added, the neural structures gradually became more caudal, and the series produced an entire array of different regions of the CNS (Fig. 10). The results indicate that neuralized cells at the early neurula stage, though already committed to becoming neuroblasts, are still competent to contribute to the various regions of the CNS. Their ultimate fate is thus regulated by an interaction with the cells of the axial mesoderm. This is a quantitative process in which the amount of mesoderm defines the regionality of the overlaying neural plate.

This theory postulating a double gradient and a two-step process includes elements from many previous hypotheses and is not far from Nieuwkoop's activation-transformation hypothesis. Japanese scientists have repeatedly emphasized the role of mesoderm in determining the shape, size and regionality of the neural plate (Takaya, 1956a, b, 1959, 1977, 1978). Compared with our original hypothesis illustrated in Fig. 5, the two-step concept has undergone an important modification: the model of two active principles acting jointly apparently explains our results, but might not adequately reflect the *in vivo* conditions. In the experimental model-system, we examine artificially induced (neuralized and mesodermalized) ectodermal cells after their second-step interactions, while *in vivo*, these interactants represent different cell lineages determined prior to and during gastrulation. Thus, the chain of interactive events ultimately leading to the regional differentiation of the CNS can be fractionated into at least three stages: (1) predetermination of the presumptive neuroectoderm and the determination of the inductor (mesoderm) prior to gastrulation, (2) actual «neural induction»



Fig. 9. Schema of the experiment of Saxén et al. (1964) demonstrating the two-step mode of induction. After an initial 24-h induction with a neuralizing or spinocaudal inductor, the inductors were removed, and the disaggregated ectodermal cells were subcultured either separately or after complete mixing. The latter show a new spectrum of differentiating structures determined by a second step interaction between the cells induced at the initial stage.



Fig. 10. Schema and results of the experiment by Toivonen and Saxén (1968) in which the cells from the anterior neural plate were mixed with those from the axial mesoderm. Different mixing ratios yielded a varying spectrum of CNS structures, as the amount of mesoderm determined the final regional character of the neural structures.

during gastrulation, and (3) the subsequent neural/mesodermal interaction responsible for the regional segregation of the CNS (See Fig. 22).

Model-systems

The entire background presented above was based on experimental work on amphibians. The same restriction is made for the rest of this overview, because the vast majority of experimentation is still performed on this favorite model-system. It should be pointed out, however, that since the classic experiments on chick embryos which Waddington performed in the early 1930's (1930, 1932, 1933), much work has been done on avian embryos, and many interactive events have been unravelled. This important fund of knowledge, omitted here for practical reasons, has been summarized by Deuchar (1969), Eyal-Giladi (1969, 1970), Gallera (1971), and Hara (1978). More recently, the attention of developmental biologists has been focused on prochordate embryos, and the existence of inductive systems has been confirmed there as well (summarized by Takata and Hama, 1978). In recent years, the early development and cell interactions of mammalian embryos have been elucidated, but the neural induction has so far remained unexplored.

Fig. 11 illustrates the major ways of exposing the competent ectoderm to an inductor. Two other methods are illustrated in Figs. 16 and 17.

The basic strategy is more or less the same: the competent gastrular ectoderm, either *in vivo* or isolated *in vitro*, is exposed to the solid or soluble inductor, and the response is monitored as initiation of morphogenesis. In addition, a variety of biochemical, metabolic, and ultrastructural parameters have been used to evaluate the response of the ectodermal cells. The popularity of this model-system is due to the large, readily available and easily-handled cells and their growth, differentiation, and organization in relatively simple culture conditions. One example is illustrated in Fig. 12.

Early Determinative Events

As shown in the classic embryo-dividing experiment, at the two-cell stage both blastomeres are *totipotent and uncommitted*. Their subsequent determination and developmental options are only partially known, and some contradictory views have been presented (Løvtrup et al., 1978; Løvtrup, 1983). By the eight-cell stage the four animal and four vegetal blastomeres have created some self-differentiating capacities and show different modes of development when cultivated in isolation (Gallera, 1952). The animal part develops into differentiated, partly ciliated epithelium (Fig. 13), while the vegetal blastomeres give rise to abnormal, mainly headless embryos. These two poles become distinguishable in most species at an early morula stage, and soon the mesoderm, the prospective inductor, becomes determined. It is localized at the dorsal marginal zone between the animal (ectodermal) and the vegetal (endodermal) poles. Its determination can be monitored as its self-differentiating capacities when cultivated in isolation, and the appearance of its inductive properties can be similarly followed when combined to reactive gastrula ectoderm. The self-differentiative capacity is acquired at the morula stage and the inductive capacity somewhat later, at the midblastula stage (Nakamura and Matsuzawa, 1967; Nakamura and Takasaki, 1970; Nakamura et al., 1971; Kaneda and Suzuki, 1983).

Determination of the mesoderm

The mechanism of determination of the mesoderm and its precise source are still matters of some controversy. Nieuwkoop and his group conclude that the mesoderm is derived from the ectodermal half, and that the determination is brought about by an inductive interaction between the ectodermal and the endodermal halves of the embryo (Nieuwkoop *et al.*, 1973). Nakamura and his team, however, believe that both ectodermal and endodermal cells contribute to the mesoderm at this stage, and that the latter is determined by an animal/vegetal gradient of a vegetalizing factor (Nakamura *et al.*, 1971).

Two sets of recent experiments give support to the above view of Nieuwkoop (1973). The strategy of Gimlich and Gerhart (Gimlich and Gerhart, 1984; Gimlich, 1986) was to avoid dramatic surgical manipulations that frequently lead to poor development of the dissected embryos. Instead they used ultraviolet irradiation prior to the first cleavage in *Xenopus* eggs, a treatment known to block subsequent differentiation of axial mesodermal and neural structures (Grant and Wacaster, 1972; Malacinski *et al.*, 1977; Scharf and Gerhart, 1980). When the irradiated embryos had reached the 64-cell stage, varying numbers of the eight vegetal-most cells were replaced by the corresponding cells from untreated embryos. Two such cells



Fig. 11. Schema of the commonly used experimental methods to analyze primary induction.

A. The transplantation method by Spemann (1921)

B. The implantation method by Mangold (1933)

C. The explantation («sandwich») method by Holtfreter (1933).

D. The cultivation of flattened ectoderm (Becker, 1961). E. The disaggregation-reaggregation method (Townes and Holfreter, 1955; Saxén and Toivonen, 1965; Gualandris and Duprat, 1981).

could rescue the axial structures of the recipient, and cell-labeling studies demonstrated that these structures were entirely of host origin without a contribution of the transplanted vegetal cells.

Slack, Smith and Dale (Slack *et al.*, 1984; Smith *et al.*, 1985) approached the problem with the classic isolation/transplantation technique and with the use of cell lineage labels. Labeled animal pole cells from early and midblastula stages were combined to unlabeled vegetal cells. The labeled animal pole cells

responded by forming mesodermal structures like muscle and notochord identified by specific antibodies. This interaction between the two halves of the embryo is in a sense directive as the dorsovegetal material would induce dorsal type mesoderm (the organizer) and the ventrovegetal cells, ventral type mesoderm (Slack and Forman, 1980; Slack, 1983; Smith, 1983; Smith *et al.*, 1985). Further interactions between the organizer and the ventral mesoderm lead to the subdivision of the ventral mesoderm into various territories (Fig. 22).



Fig. 12. A reaggregate obtained from induced, disaggregated ectodermal cells and subcultured for 12 days. HB, hindbrain; SC, spinal cord; EV, ear vesicle; NC, notochord; S, somites.

The inductive interactions between the animal and the vegetal cells have been studied in a series of experiments by Gurdon and his group (Gurdon *et al.*, 1985a-d). Since muscle cells are among the first to differentiate during amphibian embryogenesis, the authors recorded the determination of the mesoderm by its expression of muscle actin genes either through the use of specific mRNA probes or through immunohistology with antibodies recognizing alpha actinin (Gurdon *et al.*, 1984, 1985b; Mohun *et al.*, 1984) (Fig. 14). The muscle actin genes are not transcribed during oogenesis, but become activated towards the end of gastrulation after which some 5% of the embryonic cells express alpha-actinin. The activation can be experimentally induced by a short contact between the responding animal and the inducing vegetal cells. The muscle genes are expressed within 7 h of the initiated contact (Gurdon *et al.*, 1985a).

The decisive role of this inductive cell interaction in normal development has, however, been questioned by the same group. An alternative mechanism for the spatial and temporal control of activation of the muscle genes would be the existence of mesoderm/muscle determinants already in the fertilized egg



Fig. 13. Ciliated epidermal cells developed from the animal blastomeres of an eight-cell Triturus alpestris embryo (Grunz, 1977) (Courtesy of Dr. Horst Grunz).

where they are strictly localized and become activated after a certain number of cleavages. To test this hypothesis, the spatial relationships (contacts) between the animal and vegetal cells were disrupted in different ways (ligation, blastomere separation, disaggregation), and then the gene activation was monitored by the probes. Muscle gene activation was not prevented, and the authors concluded that «all components which are necessary for muscle gene activation are localized in the subequatorial region of a fertilized egg» (Gurdon *et al.*, 1985d). Apparently the strictly timed and localized determination of the muscle cells is implemented by a dual control mechanism that consists of both inductive tissue interactions and the distribution of localized egg components (Gurdon *et al.*, 1985a).

At the cellular level, rapid and profound changes have been described after mesodermal induction of the animal pole cells. When isolated cells from the animal hemisphere were exposed to a soluble mesoderm inductor, changes in cell shape and motility were recorded within a few hours. This transformation bears close resemblance to changes observed during gastrulation in intact embryos and hence provides a good model-system to study mesoderm induction (Cooke *et al.*, 1987; Symes and Smith, 1987).

Determination of the presumptive neuroectoderm

Early determination of the presumptive neuroectoderm is poorly understood. As shown by experiments related to autoneuralization, there seems to be a neurogenic bias already at the early gastrula stage, as a variety of non-informative, purely traumatizing exposures can bring the ectodermal cells to express neural differentiation. It is not known whether this expression reflects a selection of a predetermined subpopulation of cells or whether the prospective neuroectoderm is still a homogenous cell lineage with identical developmental options. Electrophoretic measurements have suggested the presence of several subpopulations of cells in the ectoderm with differing surface charge densities (Ave *et al.*, 1968), but whether this is an indication of actual biological (potential) differences in the cells has yet to be determined.

At the beginning of gastrulation, the presumptive neuroectoderm is omnipotent as far as can be judged from experiments in which these cells have been converted into neural, mesodermal or endodermal structures, respectively. During gastrulation or during *in vitro* cultivation this reactivity gradually weakens and is finally lost (Gallera, 1952; Nieuwkoop, 1955; Leikola, 1963), but the neuralized cells can still be transformed. When brought into contact with the axial mesoderm, their regional features can be altered as shown in the previous paragraph (Toivonen, 1967; Toivonen and Saxén, 1968; Kurrat, 1977, 1978). This flexibility is lost in *Triturus* neurulae at stage 15 (Toivonen, 1967) (Fig. 15).

The conventional view of a uniform neural potency, or competence, throughout the gastrula ectoderm should, however, be somewhat revised in the light of recent observations by Sharpe and others (1987). As a marker for early neural differentiation,



Fig. 14. Demonstration of the transcription of the muscle-specific actin genes in the equatorial region (Eq) of a stage 8 Xenopus embryo, and in animal/vegetal conjugates (An/Veg) subcultivated to stage 20 of the untreated controls. Separated animal (An) and vegetal (Veg) fragments did not transcribe the genes. (S1 nuclease protection analysis, using an M13 DNA probe specific for Xenopus laevis actin RNA). (From Gurdon et al., 1985a) (Courtesy of Dr. John B. Gurdon).

the authors used a *Xenopus laevis* cDNA clone isolated via homeobox homology and called XIHbox 6. This homeobox gene is expressed early during neural development *in vivo*, at stage 13 in *Xenopus*, and is restricted to the middle and posterior part of the neural axis. Experimentally, XIHbox 6 can be induced in the ectoderm after an animal/vegetal recombination, but is not expressed in the two fragments cultivated separately.

The expression of XIHbox 6 in the different portions of the neural-differentiated gastrula ectoderm was explored in combination experiments as illustrated in Fig. 16. The inductor was dissected from a stage 11 gastrula and wrapped in ectodermal fragments from either the dorsal or the ventral portion. Quantitative estimation of the expression of the «neural» gene XIHbox 6 indicated that the dorsal ectoderm was more regularly induced and the expression was stronger than in the similarly combined ventral fragments. Similar results were obtained when another early marker for neural differentiation was used; the neural cell adhesion molecule N-CAM is expressed during early neurogenesis throughout the neural axis (Jacobson and Rutishauser, 1986; Kintner and Melton, 1987), but showed marked quantitative differences in the dorsal and ventral ectoderms exposed to the inductor in vitro according to the technique in Fig. 16.

The obvious conclusion from the above series of experiments is that there are regional differences in the competence of the gastrula ectoderm predisposed towards neural direction before induction had commenced.

As so little is known about the mechanism of neural induction and stimulating factors, it is difficult to speculate what creates the reactivity or competence of the ectodermal cells. If, as will be discussed later, neural inductors act via receptors of the cell membrane, their development prior to gastrulation should be a prerequisite for a response. But whether the loss of competence can be attributed to changes in these receptors remains an open question. The loss can be prevented in experimental conditions by inhibition of the protein synthesis of the ectodermal cells (Grunz, 1970). It has also been suggested that the reactivity is associated with the cell generation cycle. Under the experimental conditions of Suzuki and Ikeda (1979), the ectodermal cells of stage 12 gastrula lost their competence within 18 h both in vivo and in vitro. It was calculated that each cell had divided once during this period. It might be speculated that the gradual appearance of the neural competence before gastrulation (above) could reflect the number of cells that enter the sensitive phase of a certain cell cycle.

Considering the origin and determination of the cells of the CNS, a new view has recently been put forward by Jacobson



Fig. 15. Loss of the transforming capacity of the neural plate cells during gastrulation. At stages 13 and 15 both isolated pieces of the anterior neural plate and their disaggregated cells develop into forebrain derivatives during prolonged in vitro cultivation (percent distribution indicated in histograms A and B). When combined to fragments of the caudal axial mesoderm (C) the stage 13 neural material becomes caudalized, whereas the material from stage 15 exclusively expresses cranial neural structures according to its prospective fate (Toivonen, 1958).



Fig. 16. Schema of the experimental protocol to test the neural competence of various regions of the gastrula ectoderm. (Sharpe et al., 1987).

(1982). According to this view, the cells can be traced back to the 512-cell stage when compartments are formed from small numbers of «founder cells». Their fate can be followed in the embryo by reliable marking techniques, and, indeed, cells from the same area of the blastula (the compartment) subsequently populate a certain area of the CNS.

Having demonstrated this early compartmentalization of the cells of the CNS, Jacobson (1982) disputes the validity of the classic transplantation experiments that have been thought to prove the inductive action of the blastoporal lip (chordamesoderm). He emphasizes two apparent defects in the device and conclusions of the Spemann-Mangold-type experiments: (1) the cells of the secondary neural structures might have been previously determined (or such cells might migrate to the secondary structures), and (2) the previous authors making such transplants did not convincingly demonstrate the genuine neuroid character of the cells in the secondary «neural tube» — these might equally well be epidermal cells forming tube-like structures. Direct counter-evidence for these views has since been put forward by several authors, including Jacobson him-self (1984).

At the 32-cell stage, Gimlich and Cooke (1983) labeled *Xenopus* embryo blastomeres, the progeny of which populate domains just above the dorsal or ventral marginal zone at gastrulation. The embryos then served as host for the transplanted blastoporal lip at an early gastrula age. Analysis of the labeled cells in the secondary CNS structures and in the uninduced control larvae showed convincingly that the former were made up of labeled cells that do not normally contribute to the CNS but form belly and tail epidermis. Essentially the same experiment was subsequently conducted by Jacobson (1984), Slack *et al.*, (1984) and Smith *et al.*, (1985), and the results were identical to those reported above. Jacobson's conclusion was that the results «may be regarded as a vindication of Spemann's theory of the organizer» (1984).

The second argument, the genuine neuroepithelial nature of the «neuroid» cells of epidermal origin, remained however to be explored. An indirect way of showing a profound change in the epidermal cells converted into «neuroids» was to follow an epidermal marker, the peanut lectin known to bind to epidermal cells (Smith 1985). It was shown that ectodermal cells converted into secondary «neuroid» structures in transplantation/ induction experiments lose their epidermal phenotype recorded as a loss of affinity for the lectin (Slack, 1985; Smith *et al.*, 1985). Similarly, loss of an epidermal antigen following induction was reported by Akers *et al.* (1986).

A more straight-forward approach was chosen by Duprat and her collaborators (1984, 1985a-c, 1986, 1987) who used two specific neuronal markers, the presence of tetanus-toxin binding sites and the expression of neurofilaments. Immunofluorescence examination demonstrated these markers in cells of the neural plate of young neurulas after a few days of cultivation *in vitro* without the chordamesoderm. At the beginning of culture, the markers were not detectable, but the determined cells acquired them during *in vitro* differentiation. An even more important experiment was done by inducing competent ectodermal cells of an early gastrula by a short-term (4-h) co-cultivation with cells from the chordamesoderm (Duprat *et al.*, 1982). The ectodermal cells exposed to the inductor tissue showed outgrowth of small neuronal processes, and, after some 3 to 4 days, immunohistologically recognizable neurofilaments appeared in these cells. A similar association was reported between the expression of the neuronal phenotype and the acquisition of tetanus-toxin binding sites (Duprat *et al.*, 1986).

In conclusion, the two sets of experiments reviewed above seem to be in good agreement with the classic concept of «neural induction» by the invaginating blastopore lip.

Transmission of Inductive Signals

The data reviewed above should warrant the conclusion that from the early blastula stage on, through gastrulation and early neurulation, morphogenetically significant dialogues occur between two cell lineages in close apposition to each other. As first shown by Spemann (1901) and repeatedly demonstrated in recent years, such morphogenetic or inductive alterations are not restricted to the early stages of embryogenesis but can be demonstrated throughout organogenesis in a variety of tissues (reviews: Grobstein, 1967; Saxén et al., 1976a, 1980; Wessells, 1977). In none of these situations are the hypothetic signal substances carrying the morphometric messages known (see, however, next paragraph). As long as the chemical nature of the «inductors» and their mode of action on the target cell are unknown, exploration of their transmission mechanism remains meaningful and might provide indirect information on the nature, synthesis and localization of these molecules.

Three modes of transmission have been outlined (Grobstein, 1956a; Saxén, 1972, 1980; Saxén *et al.*, 1972, 1980; Weiss and Nir, 1979; Table 1): (1) transmission mediated by actual cell contacts (membrane association or short-range diffusion); (2) transmission in the extracellular matrix (between the matrix molecules or between the matrix and the cell surface); and finally (3) transmission by long range diffusion.

Interestingly, all these alternative transmission mechanisms have been demonstrated in one inductive situation or another: cell contacts mediate kidney tubule induction (Wartiovaara *et al.*, 1974; Lehtonen, 1976; Saxén *et al.*, 1976b), matrix interactions are involved in tooth morphogenesis (Thesleff *et al.*, 1977, 1978), and the classic lens induction operates apparently via diffusible factors (Karkinen-Jääskeläinen, 1978). The mechanisms involved in primary neural induction and in the segregation of the CNS are still somewhat unclear, but certain conclusions can be drawn.

The agar-transplantation experiments by Bautzman *et al.*, (1932) and the fact that induction can be brought about by soluble factors (next paragraph) led originally to views favoring the diffusion idea, but the possible significance of actual cell contacts was also stressed by Paul Weiss (1949). A direct test to distinguish between these alternatives would be the sepa-

TABLE 1

ALTERNATIVE MODES OF TRANSMISSION OF INDUCTIVE SIGNALS (Saxén, 1980)

Long-range transmission (50,000 nm)

1. Free diffusion

2. Matrix interaction

Short-range transmission (5 nm)

- 3. Short-range diffusion
- 4. Interactions of surface-associated molecules
- 5. Transfer of molecules through intercellular channels

ration of the interactants by various means, and this has become the main technique especially after Grobstein (1956b) developed the basic method.

Transfilter experiments

In the first separation experiments by Holtfreter (1933), an interposed vitelline membrane prevented neural induction, and similar results were obtained by Brahma (1958) with porous filter membranes. Because of the nature of the interposed material in these investigations and because of their design, it was difficult to draw conclusions. Therefore the Grobstein-type technique was modified for primary induction by Saxén (1961).

The method (Fig. 17) allows the separation of the interacting components by any type of filter and subcultivation of the tissues. The first series of experiments with this technique and both heterogeneous inductors and normal dorsal lip tissue yielded positive results in a high percentage of cases (Saxén, 1961, 1963). Electron microscopic examination of the interposed Millipore filters with an average pore diameter of 0.45 microns and thickness of 25 microns seemed to exclude cytoplasmic penetration into the filter and, thus, actual cell contacts (Nyholm *et al.*, 1962). The induced structures were exclusively neural and, with few exceptions, belonged to the forebrain region.

After the development of a new filter-type, the polycarbon Nucleporeⁿ filters with better specifications than the spongy filters used before, the matter was reopened by Toivonen and his group (Toivonen *et al.*, 1975, 1976; Toivonen and Wartio-vaara, 1976; Toivonen, 1979). The results of these studies can be briefly summarized as follows (Fig. 18):

Nuclepore filters with pore diameters down to 0.05 microns do not prevent neural induction. The induced structures are of forebrain type when small pore-size filters are used and when the time of exposure is relatively short, 18 to 22 h. Filters with larger pores (0.5 microns and larger) allow the second-step transformation of the neuralized cells after prolonged transfilter contact with the inductor. Caudal neural structures are then accompanied by mesodermal derivatives.

These experiments now incline us to conclude that the relatively small neuralizing inductor is transmitted by diffusion and does not require actual contacts between the interactive cells. In experimental conditions the caudalization of the neuralized cells brought about by an interaction with mesodermal cells seems to require cell contacts established through the large pores of the filter during prolonged culture.

These observations are in agreement with those of Minuth (1978) who used basically the same experimental setup as we did and a living normal inductor. However, Kawakami *et al.*, (1978) have reached different conclusions. By using alcohol-killed heterogeneous inductor, they obtained mesodermal inductions regularly after a short (3-h) transfilter exposure of the ectoderm. Only a shallow ingrowth of ectodermal cell processes was seen in the Nuclepore filters of varying pore sizes. The authors conclude that their findings do not support the view of contact-mediated mesodermal induction (and subsequent caudalization of the CNS). We would emphasize, however, that a heterogeneous, killed inductor is known to release soluble inducing factors in experimental conditions, while the situation during normal *in vivo* development might be different.

A dual mechanism might likewise operate during the early determination of the inductor tissue, the mesoderm. If the vegetal and the animal hemispheres are separated by a Nuclepore filter with an average pore diameter of 0.4 um, direct cytoplasmic contacts are prevented, but the mesoderm-inducing signal will traverse the filter (Grunz and Tackle, 1986). Similar results were obtained when the activation of the actin gene is used as a marker for mesoderm induction; dissociation of the interactive cells and cultivating them in close proximity but without intimate contacts allowed induction (Gurdon *et al.*, 1984; Sargent *et al.*, 1986). Furthermore, direct blocking of communication of the cells via gap junctions (by antibodies against the gap junction protein) did not affect the inductive interaction leading to the gene activation (Warner and Gurdon, 1987).

The above observations on the primary mesodermalization of the animal pole cells are not necessarily applicable to the subsequent stage of development, the dorsalization of the mesoderm. The interaction was prevented when the ventral and dorsal marginal zones were separated by a Millipore filter (thickness 25 um, nominal pore) (Slack and Forman, 1980). Hence the possibility should again be considered that these two steps of mesoderm induction are implemented by different active molecules.

Ectodermal/mesodermal interphase

With the spatial and temporal distribution of the ectodermalmesodermal interactions in mind, direct observations on the interface should prove useful in evaluating the mode of transmission of the signal substances. In the early days of electron microscopy, Eakin and Lehmann (1957) already reported actual cytoplasmic bridges between the interacting ectodermal and mesodermal cells. The contact surface mostly showed an intact membrane, but in places direct intercellular anastamoses were visualized. The authors were inclined to conclude that these channels might be traversed by the inductor molecules. These observations do not fully concord with the more recent findings of Grunz and Staubach (1979b), who also describe



Fig. 17. Schema of the transfilter technique of Saxén (1961).

connecting cell projections between the ectoderm and the inductor during midgastrula stage, but fail to demonstrate «cytoplasmic bridges...which would allow a free transfer of inducing substances without passing through membranes». A true electric coupling of these two cell populations during gastrulation has been demonstrated by Ito and Ikematsu (1980). This coupling, measurable during early gastrulation, gradually disappears concomitantly with the completion of induction and the differentiation of the interacting tissue components.

The results of Suzuki *et al.*, (1984a, b) are in good agreement with these observations: cells of the posterior archenteron roof experimentally combined to those from the competent ectoderm become electrically coupled in 3 to 6 h. This lag closely corresponds to the time needed for completion of neural induction (above). The author also demonstrated that coupling did not occur when non-competent ectoderm was used and that induction with Con-A prevented coupling. Thus, electric coupling of the interacting cells can in several ways be associated to neural induction, but it remains to be shown whether we are dealing with a prerequisite or a consequence of induction.

Extracellular materials in the interspace between the presumptive neuroectoderm and the inducing mesenchyme have naturally received attention as candidates for the carrier substances. Tarin (1972, 1973, 1978) describes both granular and fibrillar material in the interphase. The spatial and temporal distribution of this material corresponds quite well to the inductive events. The granular material contains RNA, and there is circumstancial evidence that it represents extracellular accumulation of ribosomes. The fibrils, on the other hand, consist mainly of glycosaminoglycans. Enzymatic digestion experiments, however, cast some doubt on the significance of these materials for induction. After enzyme injections granules and fibrils disappear and are not reconstituted until 3 to 6 h later, respectively. Since this treatment did not affect the normal development of the embryos, Tarin (1973, 1978) concluded that these interfacial



Fig. 18. Examples of ectodermal transfilter-induced explants. A and B: forebrain structures and optic vesicles induced by the dorsal lip tissue through a Nuclepore filter with an average pore diameter of 0.05 microns. C and D: a similar response obtained by the same inductor through a dialyzing membrane. D: caudal neural structures and mesenchymal derivatives (myotomes and notochord) obtained after a prolonged contact through a filter with 0.6 micron pores (Toivonen, 1979). materials are not essential for induction, and their role remains open. The demonstration of interfacial RNA is, however, of potential interest. Suggestive evidence for its existence has been obtained from direct biochemical analyses of the RNA classes in the cells and in their interphase (Sanchez *et al.*, 1983).

To test the developmental significance of the interfacial material, different types of experiments have been devised. Since the fibrillar network coating the inner surface of the ectoderm is known to contain fibronectin, a glycoprotein with adhesive properties, Boucaut and others (Boucaut and Darribere, 1983; Boucaut *et al.*, 1984) injected antibodies to fibronectin into the blastocoele of early gastrulae. Gastrulation and subsequent development were blocked, and the antibody treatment apparently interfered with the morphogenetic movements of the invaginating cells. Since the normal relationships between the presumptive ectoderm and the inductor tissue were distorted, no conclusions could be drawn as to the effect on the induction process itself.

Further studies on the possible role of the ECM that coats the inner surface of the ectodermal cells were based on findings that in many amphibians the ectoderm is double-layered with an inner laver which consists of less competent cells. In experimental conditions, however, both layers are responsive (Asashima and Grunz, 1983; Duprat and Gualandris, 1984). Because there were no apparent differences in the neural response when the ECM-coated inner surface of the ectoderm and the uncoated outer surface were exposed to the inductor, it was concluded that «this ECM is not implicated in the process of neural determination» (Duprat and Gualandris, 1984). The fact that the outer cell layers show definitely higher responsiveness in vitro (when directly exposed to the inductor) than in vivo might reflect a slow or insufficient transfer from the inductor to the outer layers which are separated by the inner layer. This does not, however, distinguish between the prevailing diffusion hypothesis and the views of contact-mediated transfer as pointed out by Asashima and Grunz (1983).

An approach to test the possible inductive effect of the interfacial, soluble compounds was made by John *et al.*, (1983) who collected the interfacial material from the early neurula stages of *Triturus* embryos. The protein isolated from the phenol extraction of this material displayed neural inductive action, whereas proteoglycans of the aqueous phase were inactive.

From the various observations and results related to the transfer of the hypothetic signal substances from the mesodermal inductor to the overlying neuroectoderm, only tentative partial conclusions can be suggested. The majority of observations speak for a free diffusion of the neuralizing factor released from the inductor and acting on the overlying ectodermal cell surfaces. The transforming effect exerted by the mesoderm might require actual cell contacts provided by the cell processes traveling over the interphase (or through the filters in experimental conditions).

Chemistry of the Signal Substances

The concept of the chemical nature of primary induction was originally based on experiments by Bautzmann, Holtfreter, Spemann and Mangold (1932), who claimed that the «active factor» could be deposited in agar after contact with an inductor tissue. Efforts to reproduce this experiment have failed, and it has been felt that the original experiment was biased by contamination of the agar with inductor cells. However, we still believe that the basic conclusion is valid and that the inductive messages are indeed carried by chemical signal substances. The basic contention in the thirties was certainly influenced by the accumulating information concerning hormones, molecules carrying messages from their site of synthesis to the target cells. Today, an analogous situation is found in the rapidly-expanding field of growth factors, molecules synthesized in the organism and affecting the proliferation of cells in a more or less specific manner. Many of the growth factors are already reasonably well characterized, and their mode of action can be roughly outlined. As for a third control mechanism for embryonic development, the system or morphogenetic tissue interactions and signals transmitting them, there is still a lack of knowledge. Before examining the available data on neural inductors, we will list three candidates for inductor molecules in other interactive situations.

The mesenchymal factor (MS) acts upon the epithelium of the developing exocrine pancreas and is necessary for its differentiation into secretory acini. In experimental conditions this factor replaces the mesenchymal stroma of the developing epithelium, the natural inductor. The effect of the MS is not affected by covalent binding to Sepharose beads, suggesting an action of the cell surface and a second messenger mechanism. The dependence of this action on cAMP has, in fact, been shown (Pictet et al., 1974, 1975). The MS seems primarily to exert a proliferation-stimulating effect upon the target cells. It might be considered a growth factor with a specific target and thus necessary for cytodifferentiation and organogenesis. Many of the same features are carried by transferrin in at least one model-system for determination and differentiation, namely the fetal mouse kidney. Here induction is closely linked to the appearance of transferrin sensitivity, which again is a prerequisite for the expression of the newly-gained differentiative potentials (Ekblom et al., 1983; Thesleff and Ekblom, 1984; Saxén, 1987).

A third extensive analyzed morphogenetic factor is the chondrogenic inductor enhancing cartilage formation in the somitic mesenchyme. Extracellular proteoglycans seem to be the key molecules in this event of differentiation (Kosher *et al.*, 1973; Kosher and Lash, 1974). With this rather meager back-ground information on «signal substances» during embryogenesis, we will now examine present knowledge of such molecules acting during primary induction.

Primary induction

As already related, the hunt for specific inductor molecules in the thirties was largely based on the prevailing hypothesis of one key molecule, the evocator (or the organicine) presumably distributed as a concentration gradient in the embryo. Extensive experiments with heterogeneous inductors soon changed this view, and it became evident that the search would be made with two or more signal substances in mind. When the first fractionation experiments were started in the forties, those expectations were soon confirmed, but even before that Chuang (1940) had shown that heat treatment could change the inductive action of a heterogeneous tissue. The first fractionation experiments with guinea pig kidney as starting material showed how short-term treatment at 70 °C to 90 °C altered the inductive action from a spinocaudal type to an archencephalic one (Toivonen and Kuusi, 1948; Toivonen, 1950). It was further shown that extraction of the tissue with petrol-ether enhanced induction and differentiation of secondary mesodermal structures. Digestion with either trypsin or pancreatin abolished the spinocaudal inductive action, while RNase seemed to have no such effect (Kuusi, 1951a, b, 1953; Brachet *et al.*, 1952).

At the beginning of the fifties it had become evident from such experiments as well as from biological combination experiments that there was a factor causing exclusively archencephalic inductions and another one leading to the induction of spinocaudal formations. Many investigators also believed in a «deuterencephalic» inductor, a factor causing the induction of the mid-CNS-derivatives. This situation was finally schematized by the hypothesis of two factors, the neuralizing and the mesodermalizing inductor. This hypothesis will be followed here as far as possible.

The mesoderm-inducing factor

Most of the classic work done to characterize the mesoderm-inducing factor(s) has been performed with heterogeneous inductors tested upon competent gastrula ectoderm. The ectoderm responds to these inductors and their soluble fractions by mesodermalization (with or without neural derivatives). Since many tested fractions also induce endodermal structures, it has been recommended that the inductor be called the «vegetalizing factor». According to Tiedemann and his group, this factor is a protein of m.w. 28,000 and can be dissociated into subunits of 13,000 to 14,000 daltons. The factor is alkali-labile but resistant to acid treatment, sensitive to proteolytic treatments and heat but resistant to RNase. Approximately 2x10-4 ug of this preparation is needed for one gastrula to induce detectable trunk/tail structures in 50% of the explants - i. e. 105 to 106 molecules per cell (summarized by Tiedemann, 1981, 1982, 1984).

The relation of this vegetalizing factor to the normal mesoderm inductor acting upon the animal pole cells during blastula stages is not known. Its effect should, however, be strictly distinguished from the second-step transforming action of the mesoderm acting upon neuralized ectoderm. This probably contact-mediated induction occurs towards the end of gastrulation and during neurulation and is quantitative in nature.

Recent experiments with soluble mesoderm-inducing factors acting upon the animal pole cells have brought the analysis closer to the normal *in vivo* situation. Smith (1987) showed that the *Xenopus*-derived cell line XTC produces a soluble-factor-inducing mesoderm of the isolated animal pole cells. The factor called XTC-MIF is a hydrophobic protein with an isoelectric point of 7.8 and apparent relative molecular mass of 23,500. The factor can be dissociated into inactive subunits with a relative mass of 15,000. The mesoderm-inducing capacity of this factor is dose-dependent, since low concentrations induce mesenchyme and mesothelium and the highest concentrations, axial mesodermal structures (Smith *et al.*, 1988).

Several heparin-binding growth factors have likewise been shown to be mesodermal inductors when tested against isolated animal pole cells: the acidic and the basic fibroblast growth factors (FGF) and the embryonal-carcinoma-derived growth factor (Slack *et al.*, 1987). The active compound of these factors differs, however, from another group of MIFs recently isolated by Godsave and collaborators (1988) from three sources: chick embryos, the XTC cells and the WEHI-3 cell line. The active proteins obtained from these sources acted upon the blastula ectoderm in the same way as did the heparinbinding growth factors, but they are chemically distinct. After Kimelman and Kirschner (1987) reported the presence of an mRNA of the fibroblast growth factor in early *Xenopus* embryos, Slack and collaborators (1988) performed a detailed study of the effect of FGF upon the blastula ectoderm. Both acidic and basic FGF exerted a dose-dependent mesoderm-inducing action on the target cells, and the kinetics of this process corresponded to that of normal induction by the vegetal cells.

In conclusion, there are several well characterized compounds acting as mesodermal inductors when tested against the blastula ectoderm. Their effect mimics that of the normal inductor, and it remains to be seen whether one or several of them are really involved in normal development.

The neuralizing factor

The neuralizing factor(s) is found throughout the animal kingdom, and most of the fractionation results so far published have started from heterogeneous tissues: Tiedemann and his group mainly employ 11-13-day chick embryos, while many others have used mouse and guinea pig tissues, both embryonic and adult. Neuralizing and mesodermalizing activities have also been demonstrated in young amphibian embryos, in extracts from cleavage- and gastrula-stage *Xenopus* embryos (Faulhaber, 1972; Faulhaber and Lyra, 1974; Wall and Faulhaber, 1976). We have already referred to the recent examination of the extracellular material from the neuroectoderm-mesoderm interphase.

In the forties the prevailing idea concerning the chemical nature of the neuralizing factor was that it was related to RNA (Brachet, 1942, 1944), but many subsequent experiments with RNase-treated inductors failed to support this idea. The most convincing experiment was made in 1959 by Hayashi (1959): starting with a purified ribonuclearprotein sample from liver tissue, he showed that an almost complete (99%) removal of RNA from the sample did not affect its inductive capacity. Instead, trypsin was able to inactivate this sample. Inactivation was also reported by Tiedemann *et al.* (1961) who tested a soluble fraction from amphibian embryos.

The neuralizing action of various samples is not inactivated by treatment with thioglycolic acid or mercaptoethanol, and it is, as already mentioned, more heat stable than the mesodermalizing principle (Tiedemann, 1976, 1978, 1981).

More recently Tiedemann (1982, 1984) and his group have shown that the neuralizing factor is not an integral part of the plasma membrane, as isolated membrane material expresses only a weak inducing activity. In various embryonic tissues, the main activity was found in the RNP particles. Again, this activity was abolished after trypsin treatment, whereas RNase had no effect. Correspondingly, RNA isolated from these samples showed no activity, but this was found in the protein fraction. SDS electrophoretic separation experiments suggested that the active protein has a molecular weight of 10,000 to 16,000 daltons (Janaczek, 1984a, b).

In vivo, neural inductors can be almost completely inactivated by ultraviolet irradiation. If the vegetal hemisphere of a fertilized *Xenopus* egg is irradiated prior to the first cleavage, subsequent neural induction is affected and the embryos become defective (Chung and Malacinski, 1975; Malacinski *et al.*, 1977).

To conclude this fragmentary information: the neuralizing factor, widely spread in the animal kingdom, both in embryonic and adult tissues, is most probably a ribonucleoprotein, the activity of which is in the protein part. This factor has not yet been isolated in purified form and its effect (when acting alone) is the induction of forebrain structures (archencephalic induction).

Towards the end of the fifties, scientists were still searching for another neuralizing inductor, the deuterencephalic agent (Tiedemann, 1959), and many relatively pure samples exhibited this action. Following results obtained from various combination experiments with heterogenous inductors (Toivonen and Saxén, 1955, 1961), Tiedemann and his group could split such «deuterencephalic» inductors into a neuralizing (archencephalic) and a mesodermalizing (vegetalizing) component (Tiedemann *et al.*, 1963).

In another set of investigations, Tiedemann's group has demonstrated an interesting difference in the mode of action of the neuralizing and vegetalizing (mesodermalizing) factors. In these experiments two crude inductor preparations were used: a vegetalizing fraction prepared from chick embryos (Born et al., 1972) including both deuterencephalic and spinocaudal structures and a corresponding neuralizing fraction prepared from the same source. The two protein preparations were then bound to BAC-Cellulose or to CNBr- Sepharose matrix, and the competent ectoderm was tested for these preparations (Tiedemann and Born, 1978; Born et al., 1980). The results were striking: covalent binding of the vegetalizing factor to the beads inactivated the action almost completely - an occasional weak action was apparently caused by the small amount of the inductor released from the Sephadex during exposure. The binding did not affect the inducing action of the neuralizing principle tested for two different neuralizing preparations (Born et al., 1986). After an enzymatic degradation, a fully active vegetalizing fraction could be released from the beads. The authors reached the important conclusion that the neuralizing factor acts on the cell surface of the ectoderm, while the vegetalizing factor must become internalized to act upon the target cells. We will shortly return to this finding.

The decisive role of the mesoderm for the development of

the neural tube has been known since the long series of experiments by Takaya (Takaya, 1956a, b, 1959, 1977, 1978), who cultured pieces of branchial parts of the neural plate with various amounts of mesoderm at various ratios to the neural tissue. By stimulating proliferation of the adjacent neural tissue, the mesoderm determines the thickness of the wall of the neural vesicle formed and thus creates the region-specific, morphological features of the neural tube (Fig. 19). This contactmediated stimulation of proliferation brings us back to the growth factors definitely involved in differentiation. We have recently demonstrated an analogous situation during kidney tubule development, where induction is associated to a contact-mediated stimulation of proliferation of the target cells (Saxén *et al.*, 1983).

To conclude, the actual neural determination of the prospective neuroectoderm during gastrulation is brought about by a chemical signal substance released from the mesoderm. This diffusible factor acts upon the surface of the ectodermal cells. It is a protein, probably rather small (as suggested by dialysis experiments), and resistant to RNase treatment.

An interaction between the neural plate and the underlying mesoderm determines the regionality of the CNS by an unknown mechanism. Suggestive evidence is available that a contact-mediated stimulation of cell proliferation is involved here. The following discussion on the possible mechanism of action of the inductor substances is largely based on these conclusions, tentative as they may be.

Induction and Response

As emphasized earlier under «Model-systems», most of the studies related to primary induction still follow the classic way of experimentation, which means that the actual response of the target cell population is monitored as morphogenesis of definite



Fig. 19. Various types and shapes of neural vesicles developed after combination with mesoderm in various ways (Takaya, 1956a, 1959).

structures. In most cases this analysis is performed 6 to 12 days after the exposure of the ectodermal cells to the inductor. Thus very little can be learned from the early steps of induction and from the response to it at various levels (tissue level, cell level and molecular level). Here we will summarize some rather recent observations on such early events following induction, and an effort will be made to explain some of these events in molecular terms.

The role of cell surface in neural induction has gradually become quite obvious. The inductor released by the mesoderm can apparently traverse a certain distance (Spemann, 1916; Løvtrup *et al.*, 1978), and it acts directly on the plasma membrane without having to become internalized (Tiedemann and Born, 1978; Born *et al.*, 1980, 1986). Various approaches have been used to examine the significance of the cell surface during recent years: direct morphological observations on postinductory changes of the cell surface, follow-up of changes in the surface charge density of the induced cells, use of lectins to alter the surface characteristics, and, ultimately, tests for the secondmessenger hypothesis by direct experimental manipulations.

Changes in the cell surface

At gastrulation, the ectodermal cells already carry an epidermal bias (Grunz, 1973) and form well-developed epidermal cells when cultured *in vitro* (Fig. 13). Their development closely resembles that *in vivo* and leads to the formation of cells with a convex, villus-coated surface which occasionally develops cilia. Experimentally vegetalized cells differ from these uninduced controls already at 24 h by showing horn-like protrusions of the membrane (Fig. 20) and further differentiation in prolonged cultures. Ciliated cells do not develop in these conditions (Grunz *et al.*, 1975).

Detailed descriptions are available on changes in cell morphology during gastrulation (Moran *et al.*, 1975; Monroy *et al.*, 1976; Nakatsuji, 1976). Disaggregation/reaggregation experiments with induced vs. uninduced ectodermal cells suggest an increased cell adhesiveness following induction (Suzuki *et al.*, 1986), and the same conclusion might be drawn from observations of an early expression of the neural cell adhesion molecule, N-CAM in neuralized cells.

Artificially neuralized cells have been examined in detail by Yamamoto and collaborators (1981). Treatment of isolated ectodemal cells with the lectin Concanavallin-A (Con-A) leads to early morphological changes associated with neuralization of the target. In treated cells, intercellular connecting filopodia disappeared, and after 60 h a neuroid pattern of the cells could be recognized. Throughout cultivation the surface topography differed definitely from the controls (cells treated with non-neuralizing succinyl-Con A or untreated) (Fig. 21). The initially disrupted intercellular relations of the induced cells were restored around 20 h, but the marked differences in the surface structures remained. The authors conclude that their lectin, Con A,



Fig. 20. Scanning electron micrographs of isolated ectodermal cells treated with the vegetalizing factor for 24 h (A and B) and subcultured for 10 days (C and D). Various surface structures can be identified after the initial induction, and during subsequent cultivation the cells form an irregular epithelium of flattened cells many of which are covered with microvilli. Magnifications A: 1200 x, B: 3000 x, C and D: 1400 x (Courtesy of Dr. Horst Grunz).



Fig. 21. Scanning electron micrographs of the interior (A, C) and exterior (E) surfaces of ectoderm «induced» with Con A for 3 h (A), and subcultured for 20 h (C and D). Uninduced, corresponding controls on the left (B, D, F) (From Yamamoto et al., 1981) (Courtesy of Dr. K.Y. Yamamoto).

might act on the same surface receptors involved in normal induction, a view not very different from those expressed by more recent investigators using lectin probes (below).

In order to examine early changes in the cell surface charge, Grunz and Staubach (1979a) used cationized ferritin binding to the negatively charged groups at the cell surface. When uninduced isolated ectodermal cells were compared with those induced with the vegetalizing factor, qualitative and quantitative differences were detected: while in uninduced cells the ferritin was seen as a thin layer covering the entire cell surface, in induced cells the amount was reduced, and it was distributed in an uneven, patchy fashion. The author correlate this change in the negatively charged groups at the cell surface to parallel changes in the cell affinity after induction (Kocher-Becker *et al.*, 1965). These also seem to correlate temporally to an increase in the surface charge density of vegetalized cells as shown by the electroporetic mobility studies by Togashi and Asashima (1980). Further experiments comparing the cation concentration and the membrane resting potential of induced with uninduced ectodermal cells led to the conclusion that the induced membrane changes result in ionic selectivity (Siegal *et al.*, 1985).

Experiments with lectins

The apparent action of the neuralizing factor on the cell surface (Tiedemann and Born, 1978; Born *et al.*, 1980, 1986) and the many morphological and physiological changes there (above) strongly suggest a central role for cell surface in the induction process. Hence, it was only natural that several investigators recently picked lectins as tools to manipulate the cell surface conformation during and after induction. Duprat *et al.*, (1984, 1985c) chose two lectins known to have their receptors on the gatrula ectodermal cells: soybean lectin (SBA) binding to N-acetylgalactosamine and pea lectin (PSA) binding to N-acetylglucosamine. These lectins have no inducing effects on the competent ectoderm, but when the latter was pretreated for 30 min with the lectins, neural competence was almost completely lost when tested during a four-hour contact with the dorsal lip inductor. If, however, the contact time was extended to 24 h, induction occurred, and the author concluded that the prolonged culture after lectin treatment had allowed repair of the structural integrity of the target cell surface. This structural integrity was considered necessary for neural induction, but it remains to be explored how the various surface receptors are linked to it. A spheric hindrance of the inductor receptors or nearby lectins is possible, but we may also be dealing in part with the same reactive and binding sites.

Takata (1983, 1985), having shown that competent ectoderm can be neuralized by treatment with Con A, has proposed that the neural receptors on the ectodermal cell surface might, in fact, consist of glycoproteins. Various types of experiments were performed to examine this hypothesis. After measuring the uptake of radioactive Con A, he tested whether an extended contact between surface-bound Con A and the target cells was required for the induction. For this, Con A-treated cells were chased with mannoside which removed more than 50% of the labeled compound. The fact that this blocked the induction led the author to conclude that the remaining, apparently internalized Con A molecules were not essential for the induction whereas the surface-bound molecules were. The role of the presumably mannose-type sugar-containing receptors was further elucidated in the following experiment. The ectodermal explants were pretreated with neuraminidase and, subsequently, with glycopeptidase to remove the receptors. When these explants were then exposed to the inducing Con A, only 13% responded by neuralization while the percentage in adequate controls was 71 % (Takata, 1983).

To us, these results of careful experiments are of considerable interest, as they show (for the first time) at least one pathway whereby an exogenous agent acting on the cell surface can act on the competent ectoderm and lead to its neuralization. As for the relation of this finding to normal neural induction, we still prefer to be cautious. In fact, recent observations by Grunz (Grunz, 1985a, b) suggest that the situation is more complex. He treated his blastoporal lip/competent ectoderm sandwichtype explants with tunicamycin, an inhibitor of glycosylation, but could not prevent neural induction. He suggests that the natural inductor could interact with receptors other than Con A. Finally, the possibility still exists that Con A used in rather high concentrations might be toxic to the target cells and cause autoneuralization through a release of the inductively active compounds found in the ectoderm (Gualandris et al., 1985). This explanation was not, however, accepted by Tacke and Grunz (1986), who did not detect any signs of a toxic effect in their Con A-treated cells.

Second messenger hypothesis

The results suggesting the role for surface receptors in neural induction raise the question of the possible role of a second messenger. A straight-forward attempt to test this would be the exposure of the ectoderm to various exogenous cyclic nucleotides. Thus, Grunz and Tiedemann (1977) used several such compounds (mono- and dibuturyl-derivatives of cyclic AMP), but did not obtain differentiation of the ectoderm - in contrast to earlier reports with *Axolotl* material (Wahn *et al.*, 1975; Løvtrup and Perris, 1983). The authors conclude that their results do not support the idea of a second messenger being involved in the implementation of neural induction, and they refer to the extreme sensitivity of the *Axolotl* ectoderm to toxic treatments leading to autoneuralization (Grunz, 1984).

Activation of «neural» genes

The search for early markers for neural differentiation following induction is ultimately focused on «neural» molecules, the expression of which would be spatially and temporally associated to early neurogenesis. The detection of such molecules would allow an analysis of the gene activation reflected in the expression of the «new» molecule in its enhanced transcription. (Another strategy would be the one successfully adopted by Gurdon's group: screening the cDNA library of certain developmental stages and correlating the transcripts to neurogenesis.

Neural cell adhesion molecule N-CAM is a member of a larger family of compounds with adhesive properties showing developmental changes in their expression and localization (Edelmann, 1985). N-CAM was recently detected in the nervous system of Xenopus embryos. Both in primary neural tissue and in experimentally-induced ectoderm, N-CAM expression was greatly enhanced some 18 h after the start of induction in fact, no detectable amounts of the compound were seen in immunohistology before this stage (Jacobson and Rutishauser, 1986). These results were soon confirmed by Kintner and Melton (1987) who isolated Xenopus laevis N-CAM cDNA to use this probe for showing a definite increase in N-CAM RNA levels when competent ectoderm was brought into contact with the normal inductor. In situ hybridization showed that the early expression of N-CAM RNA was localized in the neural plate in whole embryos. The results thus indicate that neural induction is followed by gene activation - a finding opening promising possibilities for analysis of the basic mechanism in neural induction and, ultimately, for the characterization of the inducing molecules.

Neural induction - A sequential process

The abundant data acumulated during 60 years of research in the field of neural induction do not yet warrant a unifying concept of the process. However, we can summarize this review in the form of a working hypothesis that might be used when planning further investigation - and which most probably will require modification in the future (Fig. 22).

Neural induction is a multistep process. Inducing factors are already present in the egg, and they are widely spread in early embryos, apparently in an inactive form. Their activation in the organizer region at the blastula stage is associated with the determination of this particular tissue. This, in turn, seems to be controlled both by an interaction between the animal and the vegetal cells and by determinants with specific localization already in the egg.

After the chordamesoderm acquires its inductive properties, the presumptive neuroectoderm acquires its responsiveness, or competence, to respond to inductive stimuli. Whether this is implemented by the formation of membrane-associated receptors or by some other mechanisms remains open. There is evidence, however, that the signal substances released from the inductor will be transferred to the surface of the ectodermal tar-



Fig. 22. Schema of the sequential induction processes leading to the formation of the CNS. The schema and terminology borrowed from Smith et al., (1985) but completed with the last stage of regionalization.

After fertilization the vegetal half becomes subdivided into dorso-ventral (DV) and ventral-ventral (VV) portions. The dorso-ventral region then induces the organizer (0) from the animal half while the ventral region induces the ventral mesoderm (M). The latter is then induced by the organizer into subdivisions. During gastrulation the organizer acquires craniocaudal «positional values» (01 to 04) which become transmitted to the competent ectoderm, there to produce the homologous craniocaudal positional values (N1 to N4). These are implemented by a secondary interaction between the neuralized ectoderm and the axial mesoderm leading to the regionalization of the CNS.

get cells where they act on the plasma membrane without being internalized. This interaction leads to an overall neuralization of the presumptive neural ectoderm without definite regional segregation.

The last step in the chain of interactive events governing early neurogenesis is the segregation of the neuralized ectoderm into the various territories of the CNS. This secondary action of the inductor tissue is quantitative in nature, probably mediated by actual cell-to-cell contacts, and stimulates proliferation of the neuroblasts.

References

AKERS, R.M., PHILLIPS, C.R. and WESSELLS, N.K. (1986). Expression of an epidermal antigen used to study tissue induction in early *Xenopus laevis* embryos. *Science* 231: 613-616.

- ASASHIMA, M. and GRUNZ, H. (1983). Effects of inducers on inner and outer gastrula ectoderm layers of *Xenopus laevis*. *Differentiation 23*: 206-212.
- AVE, K., KAWAKAMI, I. and SAMESHIMA, M. (1968). Studies on the heterogeneity of cell populations in amphibian presumptive epidermis, with reference to primary induction. *Dev. Biol.* 17: 617-626.
- BAUTZMANN, H., HOLTFRETER, J., SPEMANN, H. and MANGOLD, O. (1932). Versuche zur Analyse der Induktionsmittel in der Embryonalentwicklung. *Naturwissenschaften 20*: 971-974.
- BECKER, U. and TIEDEMANN, H. (1961). Zell- und Organdetermination in der Gewebekultur, ausgeführt am presumptive Ektoderm der Amphibiengastrula. Verhandl. Deut. Zool. Ges. 25: 259-267.
- BORN, J., GRUNZ, H., TIEDEMANN, H. and TIEDEMANN, H. (1980). Biological activity of the vegetalizing factor: decrease after coupling to polysaccharide matrix and enzymatic recovery of active factor. W. Roux's Arch. 189: 47-56.
- BORN, J., HOPPE, P., JANECZEK, J., TIEDEMANN, H. and TIEDEMANN, H. (1986). Covalent coupling of neuralizing factors from *Xenopus* to Sepharose beads: no decrease of inducing activity. *Cell Differ.* 19: 97-101.

- BORN, J., TIEDEMANN, H. and TIEDEMANN, H. (1972). The mechanism of embryonic induction: isolation of an inhibitor for the vegetalizing factor. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 279: 175-183.
- BOUCAUT, J.C. and DARRIBERE, T. (1983). Presence of fibronectin during early embryogenesis in the amphibian *Pleurodeles waltlii*. *Cell Differ.* 12: 77-83.
- BOUCAUT, J.C., DARRIBERE, T., BOULEKBACHE, H. and THIERY, J.P. (1984). Anti-fibronectin antibodies prevent gastrulation but do not perturb neurulation in gastrulated amphibian embryos. *Nature* 307: 364-367.
- BRACHET, J. (1942). La localisation des acides pentosenucléiques dans les tissues animaux et les œufs d'Amphibiens en voie de développement. Arch. Biol. 53: 207-257.
- BRACHET, J. (1944). Embryologie Chimique. Masson et Cie, Paris.
- BRACHET, J. (1950). Chemical Embryology. Interscience Publisher, New York and London.
- BRACHET, J., KUUSI, T. and GOTHIE, S. (1952). Une étude comparative du pouvoir inducteur en implantation et en microinjection des acides nucléiques et des constituants cellulaires nucléoproteines. Arch. Biol. (Liege) 63: 429-440.
- BRAHMA, S.K. (1958). Experiments on the diffusibility of the Amphibian evocator. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 6: 418-423.
- CHUANG, H.-H. (1938). Spezifische Induktionsleistungen von Leber und Niere im Explantationsversuch. *Biol. Zbl. 58:* 472-480.
- CHUANG, H.-H. (1940). Weitere Versuche über die Veränderung der Induktionsleistungen von gekochten Organteilen. W. Roux's Arch. 140: 25-38.
- CHUNG, H.-M. and MALACINSKI, G.M. (1975). Repair of ultraviolet damage to a cytoplasmic component required for neural induction in the Amphibian egg. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 72: 1235-1239.
- COOKE, J., SMITH, J.C., SMITH, E.J. and YAQOOB, M. (1987). The organization of mesoderm pattern in *Xenopus laevis*: experiments using a *Xenopus* mesoderm-inducing factor. *Development 101*: 893-908.
- DALCQ, A. and PASTEELS, J. (1937). Une conception nouvelle des bases physiologiques de la morphogénèse. Arch. Biol. 48: 669-710.
- DALCO, A. and PASTEELS, J. (1938). Potentiel morphogénètique régulation et «Axial gradients» de Child. Mireau point des bases physiologiques de la morphogénèse. Bull. Acad. Méd. Belg. 6st sér. 3: 261-308.
- DEUCHAR, E.M. (1969). Effects of a mesoderm-inducing factor in early chick embryos. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 22: 295-304.
- DUPRAT, A.M. and GUALANDRIS, L. (1984). Extracellular matrix and neural determination during amphibian gastrulation. *Cell Differ.* 14: 105-112.
- DUPRAT, A.M., GUALANDRIS, L., FOULQUIER, F., PAULIN, D and BIZZINI, B. (1986). Neural induction and *in vitro* initial expression of neurofilament and tetanus toxin binding site molecules in amphibians. *Cell Differ.* 18: 57-64.
- DUPRAT, A.M., GUALANDRIS, L., KAN, P. and FOULQUIER, F. (1984). Early events in the neurogenesis of amphibians (*Pleurodeles waltlü*, *Ambystoma mexicanum*). In *The Role of Cell Interactions in Early Neurogenesis* (Eds. A.-M. Duprat, A.C. Kato and M. Weber). Plenum Press, New York, pp. 3-20.
- DUPRAT, A.M., GUALANDRIS, L., KAN, P., PITUELLO, F., SAINT-JEAN-NET, J.P. and BOUDANNAOUI, S. (1986-1987). Neural induction. *Arch. Anat. Microsc. Morphol. Exp.* 75: 211-227.
- DUPRAT, A.M., GUALANDRIS, L. and ROUGE, P. (1982). Neural induction and the structure of the target cell surface. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 70: 171-187.
- DUPRAT, A.M., KAN, P., FOULQUIER, F. and WEBER, M. (1985a). In vitro differentiation of neuronal precursor cells from amphibian late gastrulae: morphological, immunocytochemical studies, biosynthesis, accumulation and uptake of neurotransmitters. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 86: 71-87.
- DUPRAT, A.M., KAN, P., GUALANDRIS, L., FOULQUIER, F. and MARTY, J. (1985b). Neural induction: embryonic determination elicits full expression of specific neuronal traits. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 89 (Supp.): 167-183.
- DUPRAT, A.M., ROUGE, P., FLOTTES, S. and BLEYS, M. (1985c). Lectin probes for visualization of cell differentiation: In *Lectins, Vol. IV* (Eds.)

T.C. Bøg-Hansen and J. Breborowicz). Walter de Gruyter & Co., New York, pp. 193-201.

- EAKIN, R.M. and LEHMAN, F.E. (1957). An electron microscopic study of developing amphibian ectoderm. W. Roux's Arch. 150: 177-198.
- EDE, D.A. (1978). An Introduction to Developmental Biology. Blackie, Glasgow, pp. 1-246.
- EDELMAN, G. (1985). Expression of cell adhesion molecules during embryogenesis and regeneration. *Exp. Cell Res.* 161: 1-16.
- EKBLOM, P., THESLEFF, I., SAXÉN, L. and TIMPL, R. (1983). Transferrin as a growth factor for embryogenesis: acquisition of responsiveness related to embryonic induction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80*: 2651-2655.
- ENDRES, H. (1895). Über Anstick- und Schnürversuche an Eiern von Triton taeniatus. Schles. Ges. Vaterländ. Kultur 73.
- EYALD-GILADI, H. (1969). Differentiation potencies of the young chick blastoderm as revealed by different manipulations. I. Folding experiments and position effects of the culture medium. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 21: 177-192.
- EYALD-GILADI, H. (1970). Differentiation potencies of the young chick blastoderm as revealed by different manipulations. II. Localized damage and hypoblast removal experiments. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 23: 739-749.
- FAULHABER, I. (1972). Die Induktionsleistung subzellularer Fraktionen aus der Gastrula von Xenopus laevis. W. Roux's Arch. 171: 87-108.
- FAULHABER, I. and LYRA, L. (1974). Ein Vergleich der Induktionsfähigkeit von H
 üllenmaterial der Dotterpl
 ättchen- und der Microsomenfraktion aus Furchungs- sowie Gastrula- und Neurulastadien des Krallenfrosches Xenopus laevis. W. Roux's Arch. 176: 151-157.
- GALLERA, J. (1952). Inductions céphaliques dans l'ectoblaste vieilissant (*Triturus alpestris*). W. Roux's Arch. 146: 21-67.
- GALLERA, J. (1971). Primary induction in birds. Adv. Morphog. 9: 149-180.
- GIMLICH, R.L. (1985). Cytoplasmic localization and chordamesoderm induction in the frog embryc. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. (Supp.): 89-111.
- GIMLICH, R.L. (1986). Acquisition of developmental autonomy in the equatorial region of the *Xenopus* embryo. *Dev. Biol.* 115: 340-352.
- GIMLICH, R.L. and COOKE, J. (1983). Cell lineage and the induction of second nervous systems in amphibian development. *Nature 306:* 471-473.
- GIMLICH, R.L. and GERHART, J.C. (1984). Early cellular interactions promote embryonic axis formation in *Xenopus laevis*. *Dev. Biol.* 104: 117-130.
- GODSAVE, S.F., ISAACS, H.V. and SLACK, J.M.W. (1988). Mesoderminducing factors: a small class of molecules. *Development 102*: 555-566.
- GRANT, P. and WACASTER, J.F. (1972). The amphibian grey crescent A site of developmental information? *Dev. Biol.* 28: 454-471.
- GROBSTEIN, C. (1956a). Inductive tissue interactions in development. *Adv. Cancer Res. 4*: 187-236.
- GROBSTEIN, C. (1956b). Trans-filter induction of tubules in metanephrogenic mesenchyme. *Exp. Cell Res.* 10: 424-440.
- GROBSTEIN, C. (1967). Mechanism of organogenetic tissue interaction. Nat. Cancer Inst. Monogr. 26: 279-299.
- GRUNZ, H. (1970). Abhängigkeit der Kompetenz des Amphibien-Ektoderms von der Proteinsynthese. W. Roux's Arch. 165: 91-102.
- GRUNZ, H. (1973). The ultrastructure of amphibian ectoderm treated with an inductor or Actinomycin D. W. Roux's Arch. 173: 283-293.
- GRUNZ, H. (1977). Differentiation of the four animal and the four vegetal blastomeres of the eight-cell-stage of *Triturus alpestris*. W. Roux's Arch. 181: 267-277.
- GRUNZ, H. (1984). Early embryonic induction. In The Role of Cell Interaction in Early Neurogenesis (Eds. A.-M. Duprat, A.C. Kato and M. Weber). Plenum Press Corp., New York, pp. 21-38.
- GRUNZ, H. (1985a). Effect of Concanavalin A and vegetalizing factor on the outer and inner ectoderm layers of the early gastrulae of *Xenopus laevis* after treatment with Cytochalasin B. *Cell Differ.* 16: 82-92.
- GRUNZ, H. (1985b). Information transfer during embryonic induction in amphibians. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 89 (Supp.): 349-364.

- GRUNZ, H., MULTIER-LAJOUS, A.M., HERBST, R. and ARKENBERG, G. (1975). The differentiation of isolated Amphibian ectoderm with or without treatment with an inductor. A scanning electron microscope study. W. Roux's Arch. 178: 277-284.
- GRUNZ, H. and STAUBACH, J. (1979a). Changes in the cell surface charge of Amphibian ectoderm after induction. W. Roux's Arch. 186: 77-80.
- GRUNZ, H. and STAUBACH, J. (1979b). Cell contacts between chordamesoderm and the overlaying neuroectoderm (presumptive central nervous system) during the period of primary embryonic induction in amphibians. *Differentiation 14*: 59-65.
- GRUNZ, H. and TACKE, L. (1986). The inducing capacity of the presumptive endoderm of *Xenopus laevis* studied by transfilter experiments. *Roux's Arch. Dev. Biol.* 195: 467-473.
- GRUNZ, H. and TIEDEMANN, H. (1977). Influence of cyclic nucleotides on amphibian ectoderm. W. Roux's Arch. 181: 261-265.
- GUALANDRIS, L. and DUPRAT, A.M. (1981). A rapid experimental method to study primary embryonic induction. *Differentiation 20:* 270-273.
- GUALANDRIS, L., ROUGE, P. and DUPRAT, A.M. (1985). Target cell surface glycoconjugates and neural induction in an amphibian. *J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol.* 86: 39-51.
- GURDON, J.B. (1987). Embryonic induction molecular prospects. *Development 99:* 524-531.
- GURDON, J.B., BRENNAN, S., FAIRMAN, S., DATHAN, N. and MOHUN, T.J. (1984). The activation of actin genes in early *Xenopus* development. In *Molecular Biology of Development*. Alan R. Liss, Inc., New York, pp. 109-118.
- GURDON, J.B., FAIRMAN, S., MOHUN, T.J. and BRENNAN, S. (1985a). The activation of muscle-specific actin genes in *Xenopus* development by an induction between animal and vegetal cells of a blastula. *Cell* 42: 913-922.
- GURDON, J.B., MOHUN, T.J., BRENNAN, S. and CASCIO, S. (1985b). The activation of muscle-specific actin genes in *Xenopus* development. In *Molecular Determinants of Animal Form* (Ed. G.M. Edelman). Alan R. Liss Inc., New York, pp. 37-45.
- GURDON, J.B., MOHUN, T.J., BRENNAN, S. and CASCIO, S. (1985c). Actin genes in Xenopus and their developmental control. *J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. (Supp.)* 89: 125-136.
- GURDON, J.B., MOHUN, T.J., FAIRMAN, S. and BRENNAN, S. (1985d). All components required for eventual activation of muscle-specific actin genes are localized in the subequatorial region of an uncleaved amphibian egg. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82*: 139-143.
- HADORN, E. (1965). Brookhaven Symposium on Biology 18: 148-161.
- HARA, K. (1978). «Spemann's organizer» in birds. In Organizer A Milestone of a Half-century from Spemann (Eds. O. Nakamura and S. Toivonen). Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, Amsterdam, pp. 221-265.
- HAYASHI, Y. (1959). The effects of ribonuclease on the inductive ability of liver pentose nucleoprotein. *Dev. Biol.* 1: 247-263.
- HERMANN, H. (1960). Molecular mechanisms of differentiation. An inquiry into the protein forming system of developing cells. In *Fundamental Aspects of Normal and Malignant Growth* (Ed. W.W. Nowinski). Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 494-545.
- HOLTFRETER, J. (1933). Nachweis der Induktionsfähigkeit abgetöteter Keimteile. Isolations- und Transplantationsversuche. W. Roux's Arch. 128: 584-633.
- HOLTFRETER, J. (1934). Über die Verbreitung induzierender Substanzen und ihre Leistungen im Triton-Keim. W. Roux's Arch. 132: 307-383.
- HOLTFRETER, J. (1944). Neural differentiation of ectoderm through exposure to saline solution. J. Exp. Zool. 95: 307-340.
- HOLTFRETER, J. (1945). Neuralization and epidermalization of gastrula ectoderm. J. Exp. Zool. 98: 161-209.
- HOLTFRETER, J. and HAMBURGER, V. (1955). Embryogenesis: progressive differentiation. Amphibians. In *Analysis of Development* (Eds. B.H. Willier, P.A. Weiss and V. Hamburger). Saunders, Philadelphia, pp. 230-296.
- ITO, I. and IKEMATSU, Y. (1980). Inter- and intratissue communication during amphibian development. *Dev. Growth Differ.* 22: 247-256.

- JACOBSON, M. (1982). Origins of the nervous system in Amphibians. In Current Topics in Neurobiology. Neuronal Development (Ed. N.C. Spitzer). Plenum, New York, pp. 44-99.
- JACOBSON, M. (1984). Cell lineage analysis of neuronal induction: origins of cells forming the induced nervous system. *Dev. Biol.* 102: 122-129.
- JACOBSON, M. and RUTISHAUSER, U. (1986). Induction of neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) in *Xenopus* embryos. *Dev. Biol.* 116: 524-531.
- JANECZEK, J., BORN, J., JOHN, M., SCHARSCHMIDT, M., TIEDEMANN, H. and TIEDEMANN, H. (1984a). Ribonucleoprotein particles from *Xenopus* eggs and embryos. Neural-archencephalic-inducing activity of the protein moiety. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 140: 257-264.
- JANECZEK, J., JOHN, M., BORN, J., TIEDEMANN, H. and TIEDEMANN, H. (1984b). Inducing activity of subcellular fractions from amphibian embryos. W. Roux's Arch. 193: 1-12.
- JOHN, M., BORN, J., TIEDEMANN, H. and TIEDEMANN, H. (1984). Activation of a neuralizing factor in amphibian ectoderm. W. Roux's Arch. 193: 13-18.
- JOHN, M., JANECZEK, J., BORN, J., HOPPE, P., TIEDEMANN, H. and TIE-DEMANN, H. (1983). Neural induction in amphibians. Transmission of a neuralizing factor. W. Roux's Arch. 192: 45-47.
- JOHNEN, A.G. (1964). Experimentelle Untersuchungen über die Bedeutung des Zeitfaktors beim Vorgang der neuralen Induktion. II. W. Roux's Arch. 155: 302-313.
- KANEDA, T. and SUZUKI, A.S. (1983). Studies on the formation and state of determination of the trunk organizer in the newt, *Cynops pyrrhogaster*. IV. The association of the neural-inducing activity with the mesodermalization of the trunk organizer. *Roux's Arch. Dev. Biol.* 192: 8-12.
- KARKINEN-JÄÄSKELÄINEN, M. (1978). Transfilter lens induction in avian embryo. Differentiation 12: 31-37.
- KAWAKAMI, I., SASAKI, N., SATO, A. and OSAKO, N. (1978). Vegetalization of presumptive ectoderm of newt gastrulae in a transfilter experiment with fish swimbladder as the inductor. *Dev. Growth Differ. 20:* 353-361.
- KIMELMAN, D. and KIRSCHNER, M. (1987). Synergistic induction of mesoderm by FGF and TGFbeta and the identification of an mRNA coding for the FGF in the early *Xenopus* embryo. *Cell* 51: 869-877.
- KINTNER, C.R. and MELTON, D.A. (1987). Expression of *Xenopus* N-CAM RNA in ectoderm is an early response to neural induction. *Development* 99: 311-325.
- KOCHER-BECKER, U., TIEDEMANN, H. and TIEDEMANN, H. (1965). Exovagination of newt endoderm: cell affinities altered by the mesodermal inducing factor. *Science* 147: 167-169.
- KOSHER, R.A. and LASH, J.W. (1975). Notochordal stimulation of *in vitro* somite chondrogenesis before and after enzymatic removal of perinotochordal materials. *Dev. Biol.* 42: 362-378.
- KOSHER, R.A., LASH, J.W. and MINOR, R.R. (1973). Environmental enhancement of *in vitro* chondrogenesis. IV. Stimulation of somite chondrogenesis by exogenous chondromucoprotein. *Dev. Biol.* 35: 210-220.
- KURRAT, H.-J. (1977). Untersuchungen zur Segregation des ZNS bei Amphibien. Eine Analyse der Induktionserscheinungen mit Hilfe von Kombinationsexperimenten bei Ambystoma mexicanum. Biol. Zbl. 96: 79-93.
- KURRAT, H.-J. (1978). Der Einfluss von Neuralmaterial auf das mesodermale Differenzierungsmuster bei Ambystoma mexicanum. Biol. Zbl. 97: 152-162.
- KUUSI, T. (1951a). Über die chemische Natur der Induktionsstoffe im Implantatversuch bei Triton. *Experientia* 7: 299-300.
- KUUSI, T. (1951b). Über die chemische Natur der Induktionsstoffe mit besonderer Berücksichtigung der Rolle der Proteine und der Nukleinsäuren. Ann. Soc. Zool. -Bot. Fenn. Vanamo 14: 1-98.
- KUUSI, T. (1953). Sur les effects des acides nucléiques et des protéines dans l'induction heterogene. Arch. Biol. 64: 189-226.
- LEHMANN, F.E. (1945). *Einführung in die physiologische Embryologie.* Birkhäuser, Basel und Stuttgart.
- LEHMANN, F.E. (1950). Die Morphogenese in ihrer Abhängigkeit von

elementaren biologischen Konstituenten des Plasmas. *Rev. Suisse Zool. (Supp.)* 57: 1, 141-151.

- LEHTONEN, E. (1976). Transmission of signals in embryonic induction. Med. Biol. 54: 108-128.
- LEIKOLA, A. (1963). The mesodermal and neural competence of isolated gastrula ectoderm studied by heterogeneous inductors. Ann. Zool. Soc. Vanamo 25: 2-50.
- LEUSSINK, J.A. (1970). The spatial distribution of inductive capacities in the neural plate and archenteron roof of urodeles. *Nether. J. Zool.* 20: 1-79.
- LØVTRUP, S. (1983). Epigenetic mechanisms in the early amphibian embryo: cell differentiation and morphogenetic elements. *Biol. Rev.* 58: 91-130.
- LØVTRUP, S., LANDSTRÖM, U. and LØVTRUP-REIN, H. (1978). Polarities, cell differentiation and primary induction in the amphibian embryo. *Biol. Rev.* 53: 1-42.
- LØVTRUP, S. and PERRIS, R. (1983). Instructive induction or permissive activation? Differentiation of ectodermal cells isolated from the axolotl blastula. *Cell. Differ.* 12: 171-176.
- MALACINSKI, G.M., BROTHERS, A.J. and CHUNG, H.-M. (1977). Destruction of components of the neural induction system of the amphibian egg with ultraviolet irradiation. *Dev. Biol.* 56: 24-39.
- MANGOLD, O. (1933). Über die Induktionsf\u00e4higkeit der verschiedenen Bezirke der Neurula von Urodelen. Naturwissenschaften 21: 761-766.
- MINUTH, W.W. (1978). Mesodermalizing of Amphibian gastrula ectoderm in transfilter experiments. *Med. Biol.* 56: 349-354.
- MOHUN, T.J., BRENNAN, S., DATHAN, N., FAIRMAN, S. and GURDON, J.B. (1984). Cell type-specific activation of actin genes in the early amphibian embryo. *Nature 311*: 716-721.
- MONROY, A, BACCETTI, B. and DENIS-DONINI, A. (1976). Morphological changes of the surface of the egg of *Xenopus laevis* in the course of development. III. Scanning electron microscopy of gastrulation. *Dev. Biol.* 49: 250-259.
- MORAN, D. and MOURADIAN, W.E. (1975). A scanning electron microscopic study of the appearance and localization of cell surface material during amphibian gastrulation. *Dev. Biol.* 46: 422-429.
- NAKAMURA, O. and MATSUZAWA, T. (1967). Differentiation capacity of the marginal zone in the morula and blastula of *Triturus* pyrrhogaster. *Embryologia 9:* 223-237.
- NAKAMURA, O. and TAKASAKI, H. (1970). Further studies on the differentiation capacity of the dorsal marginal zone in the morula of *Triturus pyrrhogaster*. *Proc. J. Acad.* 46: 546-551.
- NAKAMURA, O., TAKASAKI, H., OKUMOTO, T. and IIDA, H. (1971). Differentiation during cleavage in *Xenopus laevis*. II. Development of inductive activity of the organizer. *Proc. J. Acad.* 47: 203-208.
- NAKAMURA, O. and TOIVONEN, S. (Eds.) (1978). Organizer A Milestone of a Half-century from Spemann. Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, Amsterdam.
- NAKATSUJI, N. (1976). Studies on the gastrulation of amphibian embryos: ultrastructure of the migrating cells of anurans. *W. Roux's Arch. 180*: 229-240.
- NEEDHAM, J. (1950). *Biochemistry and Morphogenesis*. The University Press, Cambridge.
- NEEDHAM, J., WADDINGTON, C.H. and NEEDHAM, D.M. (1934). Physico-chemical experiments on the amphibian organizer. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond., ser. B. 114*: 393-422.
- NIEUWKOOP, P.D. (1955). Independent and dependent development in the formation of the central nervous system in amphibians. *Exp. Cell Res. 3 (Supp.):* 262-273.
- NIEUWKOOP, P.D. (1958). Neural competence of the gastrula ectoderm in *Ambystoma mexicanum*. An attempt at quantitative analysis of morphogenesis. *Acta Embryol. Morphol.* 2: 13-53.
- NIEUWKOOP, P.D. (1973). The «organization center» of the amphibian embryo: its origin, spatial organization, and morphogenetic action. *Adv. Morphog.* 10: 1-39.
- NIEUWKOOP, P.D. and NIGTEVECHT, G.V. (1954). Neural activation and transformation in explants of competent ectoderm under the influence of fragments of anterior notochord in Urodeles. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 2: 175-193.

- NIEUWKOOP, P.D. et al. (1952). Activation and organization of the central nervous system. I. Induction and activation. II. Synthesis of a new working hypothesis. J. Exp. Zool. 120: 1-108.
- NIEUWKOOP, P.D. et al. (1955). Origin and establishment of organization patterns in embryonic fields during early development in amphibians and birds, in particular in the nervous system and its substrate. I. II. Proc. Kon. Ned. Akad. Wetensch. 58 C: 219-227.
- NYHOLM, M., SAXÉN, L., TOIVONEN, S. and VAINIO, T. (1962). Electron microscopy of transfilter neural induction. *Exp. Cell Res.* 28: 209-212.
- OHARA, A. (1981). Inducing time for neural tissues in gastrula ectoderm of Cynops pyrrhogaster. Dev. Growth Differ. 23: 51-58.
- PICTET, R., LEVINE, S., FILOSA, S., PHELPS, S. and RUTTER, W.J. (1974). Control of cell proliferation and differentiation of embryonic rat pancreas by mesenchymal factor and cAMP. J. Cell Biol. 63: 270a.
- PICTET, R. L., FILOSA, S., PHELPS, S. and RUTTER, W.J. (1975). Control of DNA synthesis in the embryonic pancreas: interaction of the mesenchymal factor and the cyclic AMP. In *Extracellular Matrix Influences on Gene Expression* (Eds. H.C. Slavkin and R.C. Greulich). Academic Press, New York, pp. 531-540.
- SALA, M. (1955). Distribution of activating and transforming influences in the archenteron roof during the induction of nervous system in Amphibians. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 58 C*: 635-647.
- SANCHEZ, S.S., CABADA, M.O. and BARBIERI, F.D. (1983). Newly synthesized extracellular ribonucleic acids in the amphibian gastrula. *Cell Differ.* 13: 149-157.
- SARGENT, T.D., JAMRICH, M. and DAWID, I.B. (1986). Cell interactions and the control of gene activity during early development of *Xenopus laevis*. Dev. Biol. 114: 233-246.
- SAXEN, L. (1961). Transfilter neural induction of Amphibian ectoderm. *Dev. Biol. 3:* 140-152.
- SAXÉN, L. (1963). The transmission of information during primary embryonic induction. In *Biological Organization at Cellular and Supercellular Level* (Ed. R.J.C. Harris). Academic Press, London, pp. 211-227.
- SAXÉN, L. (1972). Interactive mechanism in morphogenesis. In *Tissue Interactions and Carcinogenesis* (Ed. D. Tarin). Academic Press, London, pp. 49-80.
- SAXÉN, L. (1980). Mechanism of morphogenetic tissue interactions: the message of transfilter experiments. In *Results and Problems in Cell Differentiation* (Eds. R.G. McKinnell, M.A. DiBernardino, M. Blumenfeld and R.D. Bergad). Springer Verlag, Berlin, pp. 147-154.
- SAXÉN, L. (1987). Organogenesis of the Kidney. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge.
- SAXÈN, L., EKBLOM, P. and THESLEFF, I. (1980). Mechanisms of morphogenetic cell interactions. In *Development in Mammals* (Ed. M.H. Johnson). North-Holland Publ. Co., Amsterdam, pp. 161-202.
- SAXÉN, L., KARKINEN-JAASKELAINEN, M., LEHTONEN, E., NORDLING, S. and WARTIOVAARA, J. (1976a). Inductive tissue interactions. In *The Cell Surface in Animal Embryogenesis and Development* (Eds. G. Poste and G.L. Nicolson). North-Holland Publ. Co., Amsterdam, pp. 331-407.
- SAXÉN, L., LEHTONEN, E., KARKINEN-JAASKELAINEN, NORDLING, S. and WARTIOVAARA, J. (1976b). Are morphogenetic tissue interactions mediated by transmissible signal substances or through cell contacts? *Nature* 259: 662-663.
- SAXÉN, L., SALONEN, J., EKBLOM, P. and NORDLING, S. (1983). DNA synthesis and cell generation cycle during determination and differentiation of the metanephric mesenchyme. *Dev. Biol.* 98: 130-138.
- SAXEN, L. and TOIVONEN, S. (1958). The dependence of the embryonic inductive action of HeLa cells on their growth media. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 6: 616-633.
- SAXÉN, L. and TOIVONEN, S. (1961). Two-gradient hypothesis in primary induction. The combined effect of two types of inductors mixed in different ratios. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 9: 514-533.
- SAXÉN, L. and TOIVONEN, S. (1962). Primary Embryonic Induction. Academic Press, London.
- SAXÉN, L. and TOIVONEN, S. (1986). Primary embryonic induction in retrospect. In A History of Embryology (Eds. T.J. Horder, J.A. Witkowski and C.A. Wylie). Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, pp. 261-274.

- SAXÉN, L., TOIVONEN, S. and NAKAMURA, O. (1978). Concluding remarks - Primary induction: an unsolved problem. In Organizer - A Milestone of a Half-century from Spemann (Ed. O. Nakamura and S. Toivonen). Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- SAXÉN, L., TOIVONEN, S. and VAINIO, T. (1964). Initial stimulus and subsequent interactions in embryonic induction. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 12: 333-338.
- SCHARF, S.R. and GERHART, J.C. (1980). Determination of the dorsalventral axis in eggs of *Xenopus laevis*: complete rescue of UVimpaired eggs by oblique orientation before first cleavage. *Dev. Biol.* 79: 181-198.
- SHARPE, C.R., FRITZ, A., DE ROBERTIS, E.M. and GURDON, J.B. (1987). A homeobox-containing marker of posterior neural differentiation shows the importance of predetermination in neural induction. *Cell* 50: 749-758.
- SIEGEL, G., GRUNZ, H., GRUNDMANN, U., TIEDEMANN, H. and TIEDE-MANN, H. (1985). Embryonic induction and cation concentrations in amphibian embryos. *Cell Differ 17*: 209-219.
- SLACK, J.M.W. (1983). From Eggs to Embryo. Determinative Events in Early Development. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge.
- SLACK, J.M.W. (1985). Peanut lectin receptors in the early amphibian embryo: regional markers for the study of embryonic induction. *Cell* 41: 237-247.
- SLACK, J.M.W., DALE, L. and SMITH, J.C. (1984). Analysis of embryonic induction by using cell lineage markers. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond.* (*Biol.*) 307: 331-336.
- SLACK, J.M.W., DARLINGTON, B.G., HEATH, J.K. and GODSAVE, S.F. (1987). Mesoderm induction in early *Xenopus* embryos by heparinbinding growth factors. *Nature 326*: 197-200.
- SLACK, J.M.W. and FORMAN, D. (1980). An interaction between dorsal and ventral regions of the marginal zone in early amphibian embryos. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 56: 283-299.
- SLACK, J.M.W., ISAACS, H.V. and DARLINGTON, B.G. (1988). Inductive effects of fibroblast growth factor and lithium ion on *Xenopus* blastula ectoderm. *Development* 103: 581-590.
- SMITH, J.C. (1983). Disorganized embryos? Nature 302: 658.
- SMITH, J.C. (1985). Solving the organizer. Bioessays 2: 277-280.
- SMITH, J.C. (1987). A mesoderm-inducing factor is produced by a Xenopus cell line. Development 99: 3-14.
- SMITH, J.C., DALE, L. and SLACK, J.M.W. (1985). Cell lineage labels and region-specific markers in the analysis of inductive interactions. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 89 (Supp.): 317-331.
- SMITH, J.C., YAQOOB, M. and SYMES, K. (1988). Purification, partial characterization and biological effects of the XTC mesoderm-inducing factor. *Development 103*: 591-600.
- SPEMANN, H. (1901). Entwicklungsphysiologische Studien am Triton-Ei. I. W. Roux's Arch. 12: 224-264.
- SPEMANN, H. (1903). Entwicklungsphysiologische Studien am Triton-Ei. III. W. Roux's Arch. 16: 551-631.
- SPEMANN, H. (1916). Über Transplantationen an Amphibienembryonen im Gastrulastadium. S.B. Ges. Naturf. Fr. Berl. 9: 306-320.
- SPEMANN, H. (1918). Über die Determination der ersten Organanlagen des Amphibienembryo. I-VI. W. Roux's Arch. 43: 448-555.
- SPEMANN, H. (1921). Die Erzeugung tierischer Chimaren durch heteroplastische embryonale Transplantation zwischen *Triton cristatus* und *taeniatus. W. Roux's Arch.* 48: 533-570.
- SPEMANN, H. (1936). Experimentelle Beiträge zu einer Theorie der Entwicklung. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- SPEMANN, H. and MANGOLD, H. (1924). Über Induktion von Embryonalanlagen durch Implantation artfremder Organisatoren. W. Roux's Arch. 100: 599-638.
- SUZUKI, A. and IKEDA, K. (1979). Neural competence and cell lineage of gastrula ectoderm of newt embryo. *Dev. Growth Differ.* 21: 175-188.
- SUZUKI, A.S., KANEDA, T. and UENO, T. (1984a). Neural-inducing activity of newly-mesodermalized cells and cellular alterations of induced neurodermal cells. In *The Role of Cell Interactions in Early Neurogenesis* (Eds. A.-M. Duprat, A.C. Kato and M. Weber). Plenum Press, New York, pp. 75-81.

- SUZUKI, A.S., NAKATAKE, H. and HIDAKA, T. (1984b). Cell-to-cell contact in primary embryonic induction: effects of lectin on electrical coupling and neural induction. *Differentiation 28*: 73-77.
- SUZUKI, A.S., UENO, T. and MATSUSAKA, T. (1986). Alteration of cell adhesion system in amphibian ectoderm cells during primary embryonic induction: changes in reaggregation pattern of induced neuroectodermal and ultrastructural features of the reaggregate. *Roux's Arch. Dev. Biol.* 195: 85-91.
- SYMES, K. and SMITH, J.C. (1987). Gastrulation movements provide an early marker of mesoderm induction in *Xenopus laevis*. *Development* 101: 339-349.
- TACKE, L. and GRUNZ, H. (1986). Electron microscope study of the binding of Con A-gold to superficial and inner ectoderm layers of *Xenopus laevis* and its relation to neural-inducing activity of this lectin. *Roux's Arch. Dev. Biol.* 195: 158-167.
- TAKATA, K. (1983). A molecular aspect of neural induction in Cynops presumptive ectoderm treated with lectins. In The Role of Cell Interactions in Early Neurogenesis. Impremerie de l'Université Paul Sabatier, Toulouse, pp. 165-173.
- TAKATA, K. (1985). A molecular profile of the receptor responsive to the neural-inducing signals in the amphibian competent ectoderm. A review. Zool. Sci. 2: 443-453.
- TAKATA, K. and HAMA, T. (1978). Primary induction in cyclostomes and prochordates. In Organizer - A Milestone of a Half-century from Spemann (Eds. O. Nakamura and S. Toivonen). Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, Amsterdam, pp. 267-282.
- TAKAYA, H. (1956a). Two types of neural differentiation produced in connection with mesenchymal tissue. Proc. J. Acad. 32: 282-286.
- TAKAYA, H. (1956b). On the types of neural tissue developed in connection with mesodermal tissues. Proc. J. Acad. 32: 287-292.
- TAKAYA, H. (1959). Regional specificities in the differentiating neuralplate ectoderm of amphibian embryos. J. Journ. Zool. 12: 345-359.
- TAKAYA, H. (1977). Types of neural tissues induced through the presumptive notochord of newt embryo. *Differentiation* 7: 187-192.
- TAKAYA, H. (1978). Dynamics of the organizer. A. Morphogenetic movements and specificities in induction and differentiation of the organizer. In Organizer - A Milestone of a Half-century from Spemann (Eds. O. Nakamura and S. Toivonen). Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, Amsterdam, pp. 49-70.
- TARIN, D. (1972). Ultrastructural features of neural induction in Xenopus laevis. J. Anat. 111: 1-28.
- TARIN, D. (1973). Histochemical and enzyme digestion studies on neural induction in *Xenopus laevis*. *Differentiation* 1: 109-126.
- TARIN, D. (1978). Embryonic induction. Med. Biol. 56: 380-385.
- TER HORST, J. (1948). Differenzierungs- und Induktionsleistungen verschiedener Abschnitte der Medullarplatte und des Urdarmdaches von Triton im Kombinat. W. Roux's Arch. 143: 275-303.
- THESLEFF, I. and EKBLOM, P. (1984). Role of transferrin in branching morphogenesis, growth and differentiation of the embryonic kidney. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 82: 147-161.
- THESLEFF, I., LEHTONEN, E. and SAXÉN, L. (1978). Basement membrane formation in transfilter tooth culture and its relation to odontoblast differentiation. *Differentiation 10:* 71-79.
- THESLEFF, I., LEHTONEN, E., WARTIOVAARA, J. and SAXÉN, L. (1977). Interference of tooth differentiation with interposed filters. *Dev. Biol.* 58: 197-203.
- TIEDEMANN, H. (1959). Ein Verfahren zur gleichzeitigen Gewinnung deuterencephaler und mesodermaler Induktionsstoffe aus Hühnerembryonen. Z. Naturf. 14: 610-611.
- TIEDEMANN, H. (1976). Pattern formation in early developmental stages of amphibian embryos. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 35: 437-444.
- TIEDEMANN, H. (1978). Chemical approach to the inducing agents. In Organizer - A Milestone of a Half-century from Spemann (Eds. O. Nakamura and S. Toivonen). Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, Amsterdam, pp. 91-117.
- TIEDEMANN, H. (1981). Pattern formation and induction in amphibian embryos. *Fortschr. Zool.* 26: 121-131.
- TIEDEMANN, H. (1982). Signals of cell determination in embryogenesis. In *Biochemistry of Differentiation and Morphogenesis*. 33 Colloquium - Mosbach. Springer Verlag, Heidelberg, pp. 275-287.

- TIEDEMANN, H. (1984). Neural embryonic induction. In *The Role of Cell Interactions in Early Neurogenesis* (Eds. A.-M. Duprat, A.C. Kato and M. Weber). Plenum Publ. Corp., New York, pp. 89-105.
- TIEDEMANN, H., BECKER, U. and TIEDEMANN, H. (1963). Chromatographic separation of a hind-brain inducing subfraction. *Biochim.Biophys. Acta* 74: 557-560.
- TIEDEMANN, H. and BORN, J. (1978). Biological activity of vegetalizing and neuralizing inducing factors after binding to BAC-cellulose and CNBr-Sepharose. W. Roux's Arch. 184: 285-299.
- TIEDEMANN, H., KESSELRING, K., BECKER, U. and TIEDEMANN, H. (1961). The chemical nature of organ-determining substances in the early development of embryos. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 49: 603-605.
- TOGASHI, S. and ASASHIMA, M. (1980). Changes in the electrophoretic mobility of presumptive ectoderm cells treated with mesodermal inducing substances. *Dev. Growth Differ.* 22: 797-803.
- TOIVONEN, S. (1938). Spezifische Induktionsleistungen von abnormen Induktoren im Implantatversuch. Ann. Soc. Zool. -Bot. Fenn. Vanamo 6: 1-12.
- TOIVONEN, S. (1940). Über die Leistungsspezifität der abnormen Induktoren im Implantatversuch bei Triton. Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn., ser. A, IV, 55: 1-150.
- TOIVONEN, S. (1950). Stoffliche Induktoren. Rev. Suisse Zool. 57 (Supp.1): 41-65.
- TOIVONEN, S. (1953). Bone-marrow of the guinea-pig as a mesodermal inductor in implantation experiments with embryos of *Triturus*. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 1: 97-104.
- TOIVONEN, S. (1958). The dependence of the cellular transformation of the competent ectoderm on temporal relationships in the induction process. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 6: 479-485.
- TOIVONEN, S. (1967). Mechanism of primary embryonic induction. Exp. Biol. Med. 1: 1-7.
- TOIVONEN, S. (1979). Transmission problem in primary induction. Differentiation 15: 177-181.
- TOIVONEN, S. and KUUSI, T. (1948). Implantationsversuche mit in verschiedener Weise vorbehandelten abnormen Induktoren bei Triton. *Ann. Soc. Zool. - Bot. Fenn. Vanamo 13:* 1-19.
- TOIVONEN, S. and SAXÉN, L. (1955). The simultaneous inducing action of liver and bone-marrow of the guinea-pig in implantation and explantation experiments with embryos of *Triturus. Exp. Cell Res. 3* (Supp.): 346-357.
- TOIVONEN, S. and SAXÉN, L. (1968). Morphogenetic interaction of presumptive neural and mesodermal cells mixed in different ratios. *Science* 159: 539-540.
- TOIVONEN, S., TARIN, D. and SAXÉN, L. (1976). The transmission of morphogenetic signals from amphibian mesoderm to ectoderm in primary induction. *Differentiation 5:* 49-55.

- TOIVONEN, S., TARIN, D., SAXÈN, L., TARIN, P.J. and WARTIOVAARA, J. (1975). Transfilter studies on neural induction in the newt. *Differentiation 4*: 1-7.
- TOIVONEN, S. and WARTIOVAARA, J. (1976). Mechanism of cell interaction during primary induction studied in transfilter experiments. *Differentiation* 5: 61-66.
- TOWNES, P.I. and HOLTFRETER, J. (1955). Directed movements and selective adhesion of embryonic amphibian cells. *J. Exp. Zool. 128:* 53-120.
- WADDINGTON, C.H. (1930). Developmental mechanics of chicken and duck embryos. *Nature* 125: 924-925.
- WADDINGTON, C.H. (1932). Experiments on the development of chick and duck embryos, cultivated in vitro. Phil. Trans. B 221: 179-230.
- WADDINGTON, C.H. (1933). Induction by the ectoderm in birds. W. Roux's Arch. 128: 502-521.
- WADDINGTON, C.H. (1938). Evocation by some further chemical compounds. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. 125 B: 365-372.
- WAHN, H.L., LIGHTBODY, L.E. and CHEN, T.T. (1975). Induction of neural differentiation in cultures of amphibian undetermined presumptive epidermis by cyclic AMP derivatives. *Science* 188: 366-369.
- WALL, R. and FAULHABER, I. (1976). Inducing activity of fractionated microsomal material from the *Xenopus laevis* gastrula stage. W. *Roux's Arch.* 180: 207-212.
- WARNER, A. and GURDON, J.B. (1987). Functional gap junctions are not required for muscle and gene activation by induction in *Xenopus laevis*. J. Cell Biol. 104: 557-564.
- WARTIOVAARA, J., NORDLING, S., LEHTONEN, E. and SAXÉN, L. (1974). Transfilter induction of kidney tubules: correlation with cytoplasmic penetration into Nuclepore filters. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 31: 667-686.
- WEHMEIER, E. (1934). Versuche zur Analyse der Induktionsmittel bei der Medullarplatteninduktion von Urodelen. W. Roux's Arch. 132: 384-423.
- WEISS, P. (1949). Nature of vertebrate individuality. The problem of cellular differentiation. Proc. First Nat. Cancer Conf., pp. 50-60.
- WEISS, L. and NIR, S. (1979). On the mechanism of transfilter induction of kidney tubules. J. Theor. Biol. 78: 11-20.
- WEISMANN, A. (1892). Das Keimplasma. Eine Theorie der Vererbung. Fischer, Jena.
- WESSELLS, N.K. (1977). *Tissue Interactions and Development*. W.A. Benjamin, Inc., Menlo Park.
- WITKOWSKI, J. (1985). The hunting of the organizer: an episode in biochemical embryology. *TIBS* 10: 379-381.
- YAMAMOTO, K.Y., OZAWA, R., TAKATA, K. and KITOH, J. (1981). Cell surface changes of the presumptive ectoderm following neural-inducing treatment by Concanavalin A. W. Roux's Arch. 190: 313-319.